
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
30 SEPTEMBER 2022

MEETING PAPERS



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 30 September 2022
VENUE: Cabinet Suite, Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea 
Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea 
Griffiths

3.  Public Questions 
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Audit & Governance 
Committee.  Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Friday 23rd 
September 2022.

Andrea 
Griffiths

4.  Member Questions 
The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Friday 23rd 
September 2022

Andrea 
Griffiths

5.  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 16)
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the previous 
meeting.  

Andrea 
Griffiths

6.  External Audit for GCC & Pension Fund Update Report (Pages 
17 - 32)
The Committee is asked to note the report.  Alex Walling

7.  Treasury Management Update report (Pages 33 - 48)

The Committee is asked to note the report.
Paul Blacker

8.  Internal Audit Progress Reports (Pages 49 - 74)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Piyush Fatania

9.  GFRS Assurance Update 



Published Date Not Specified

The Committee will receive a verbal update.  Piyush Fatania

10.  Draft Code of Conduct Review (Pages 75 - 100)
The Committee is asked to consider and confirm its support for the 
revised Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct.  

Rob Ayliffe
Tel: 01452 
328506

11.  Annual Health & Safety Report 
The Committee is asked to note the report. Rob Ayliffe

Tel: 01452 
328506

12.  The Annual Report of the Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee (Pages 101 - 110)
The Committee is asked to approve the Annual Report. Cllr Colin Hay

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr John Bloxsom, 
Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Alex Hegenbarth, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Brian Tipper, 
Cllr Chloe Turner and Cllr Dr David Willingham and David Clowes (Independent 
Person).

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328506/e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 22 
July 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr John Bloxsom
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Colin Hay (Chairman)
Cllr Alex Hegenbarth

Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Chloe Turner

Substitutes: Cllr Dr Andrew Miller

Apologies:

Officers present: 

David Clowes, Cllr Alan Preest and Cllr Dr David Willingham

Steve Mawson (Executive Director of Corporate Resources), Rob
Ayliffe (Monitoring Officer), Alistair Rush (Finance Director), Piyush 
Fatania (Head of ARA), Darren Skinner (Head of Planning, 
Performance and Insight), Gillian Parkinson (Assistant Director of 
Legal Services) Karen Smith (Head of Regulatory Services and 
Consumer Protection) Kirsten Harrison (Director of Education), 
Jenny Grodzicka (Head of Information Management), Alex Walling 
(Grant Thornton), Sophie Morgan-Bower (Grant Thornton) and 
Andrea Griffiths (Democratic Services).

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 

Resolved 

That Cllr Colin Hay was duly appointed as Chairman for the ensuing civic 
year.  

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE- CHAIR 

Resolved 

That Cllr Tim Harman was duly appointed as Vice- Chairman for the ensuing 
civic year.  

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 8th April 2022 were approved as 
a correct record.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Tim Harman declared he was in receipt of a Local Government Pension.  

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions were received.  

6. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

No member questions were received.  

7. GT PROGRESS REPORTS 

Sophie Morgan-Bower, Senior Audit Manager, Grant Thornton presented the report 
which informed the Committee of the audit work to be undertaken for the 2021/22 
financial year for Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the fees involved.

It was explained that the plan clearly set out the process and it was noted that the 
Pension Fund audit was progressing well.  The Committee were informed that 
Internal Audit and Grant Thornton had regular meetings and dialogue throughout 
the financial year to discuss key issues on a regular basis.  

In terms of the Value for Money (VfM) audit report, it was noted that the VfM audit 
report had been issued, however Grant Thornton (GT) were awaiting further 
guidance from Central Government on the accounts.  

Members were advised there was increase in the audit fees for 2021/22 and were 
referred to pages 17/18 of the report, which detailed the fees.  The Senior Audit 
Manager explained Grant Thornton were hoping to complete some elements of 
their work on-site during the summer, as Covid restrictions had now been lifted.  It 
was noted discussions had been taking place with the PSAA and where local 
government bodies had a preference to undertake audits remotely, the audit fees 
would be uplifted to reflect the inefficiencies that it could cause.  For GCC the 
estimated uplift would be approximately £10k.  Members were advised if the audit 
were to take place in person it would be quicker as small inefficiencies added up 
during the course of an audit.  

In response to a question, regarding the uplift calculation, it was noted that the fee 
would be levied across all of Grant Thornton's clients and it was recognised there 
would be some additional savings in terms of time, travel, accommodation, etc.  
The Executive Director of Corporate Resources was sceptical at the uplift, he didn't 
believe it would be costlier and would ensure the appropriate officers were in place 
for face to face meetings.  He added that he would be asking the PSAA to validate 
the cost of the uplift.  GT advised if face to face meetings occurred then the fee 
would be reduced.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The Senior Audit Manager proceeded to give a breakdown of the audit fees, as 
detailed on page 19 of the report.  The Executive Director advised the Committee 
that GT fees had increased as they were unrealistically low in the beginning.  He 
suggested that GT should be more realistic with their fees in the future, rather than 
having on-cost increases, and the PSAA should be made aware of these issues.  

During the discussion, members asked what was the situation in terms of the 
climate task force disclosures, GT explained they were currently undertaking work 
on this area and it would be reported in due course. 

In response to a question, it was noted that the issue of journals was raised at the 
last meeting and the Executive Director explained that a new system would be 
installed in due course, but in the interim period officers would continue to 
undertake manual checks.    

The Senior Audit Manager advised the committee that leases for accounting 
purposes had been deferred to 2024/25 but some work could be undertaken if the 
Council wished to start the process early. The Executive Director advised Members 
this would not be necessary, as most leases were already included in the balance 
sheet.  

The Committee noted that the pension fund was within the remit of the Pensions 
Committee who also reviewed the Auditor’s annual report.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.

8. EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S ANNUAL REPORT ON GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL 

Alex Walling, Audit Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton presented the External 
Auditor's Annual Report on the County Council & Pension Fund which summarised 
the key findings in terms of the planned approach to the 2020/21 financial 
statements and value for money arrangements.  The Committee were advised that 
the report was slightly out of date, due to staff capacity issues and GT's priority had 
been the accounts.  It was noted that a number of other local authorities were also 
in the same position, as this was a national issue.     

It was understood that 2020-21 was an unprecedented year in which the council 
had operated with the majority of its staff working from home whilst supporting local 
businesses and residents throughout the pandemic.  In terms of the Value for 
Money (VfM) conclusion GT had not identified any significant weaknesses in the 
arrangements but had identified serval opportunities for improvement, these were 
detailed within the report.  Members were advised that the VfM report would be 
published in due course.  

The Committee were informed that the National Audit Office (NAO) had issued a 
new code in 2021, which focussed on improving economy, efficiency, effectiveness, 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

financial sustainability and governance, the commentary on each of these areas 
were documented within the report.  

It was reported that Corporate Overview Scrutiny Committee had oversight of the 
strategic objectives and they received regular reports, as did the individual Cabinet 
Members.  

The Engagement Lead advised the Committee that the audit work undertaken had 
not identified any material errors and there was only one adjustment to the financial 
statements.  GT had recommended a number of adjustments to improve the 
presentation of the financial statements.  The Committee noted that GT had given 
an unqualified opinion on the Council's 2020-21 financial statements on the 15th 
December 2021.  

The Executive Director recognised the progress made and he felt the systems were 
well run and robust and accepted the minor improvements.  He offered to clarify the 
statute in relation to Section 25 and would amend the detail accordingly.   Members 
were advised that the Cabinet performance report in Quarter 2, would contain more 
graphics in an effort to make the report more user friendly.  

The Chair recapped that there had been a lot of issues raised in the past six 
months and it would be wise for members to continue to monitor the performance.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.

9. INFORMING THE AUDIT RISK ASSESSMENT FOR THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL AND PENSION FUND 2021/22 

The purpose of this report was to ensure there was effective two-way 
communication between the Council's Audit Committee, who were 'those charged 
with governance' and the external auditor, Grant Thornton. Grant Thornton as the 
external auditors for both the Council and the Pension Fund, had a responsibility 
under professional auditing standards to ensure there was effective communication 
with the Audit and Governance Committee.

Resolved 

That the Audit & Governance Committee considered the responses and 
confirmed it was satisfied with the arrangements in place. 

10. ANNUAL REPORT TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

Alistair Rush, Director of Finance explained that each year the Council produced an 
Annual Report covering its Treasury Management activities for the financial year 
ending 31st March.  This report was presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee because they were charged with the overall governance of treasury 
management activities in the Council.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The Committee were advised that the Treasury Management Strategy and the 
Annual Investment Strategy were agreed by full Council as part of the annual 
budget setting process.  It was explained that all Treasury Management activities 
during the year were fully compliant with the CIPFA Code and the Council’s 
approved Treasury Strategy.  

It was explained that GCC had significant invested funds during the year, 
representing income received in advance of expenditure plus balances and 
reserves. During 2021/22 GCC’s investment balances had varied and the average 
was £339.1 million. This generated interest of £4.8m which was equivalent to 
1.41%.  The Council had continued to add value to the portfolio by longer term 
deals with other authorities and this had provided a pick-up in rates compared to 
traditional money market funds, whose rates had decreased as a result of the 
pandemic.  This return was achieved during a period when the bank rate was 
0.10% for the majority of the year.  

Where funds had previously suffered a capital loss, the Council could off-set those 
loses through a statutory override and it was expected this type of capital loss 
would be recovered over the whole period.  It was noted that GCC had recovered 
its principle position in 2021-22 with a fair value totalling £98.5m against a principle 
position of £95m.  

The Council had also maintained effective liquidity with a percentage invested for 
over twelve months of 41.6% and the remainder being returned investments to 
maintain the liquidity.  

Members were reminded that the council motion to reduce fossil fuel investments, 
the Director of Finance advised the Committee here were no new investments in 
fossil fuels in the twelve months and the Treasury Management Advisors had 
identified two new funds with fossil fuel exclusions which were opened during 2021-
22.  It was recognised that markets were moving away from fossil fuel investments 
and green investments were rapidly increasing.  

The Council had also diversified into social housing real estate and was considering 
a social housing trust investment, which focused on supportive housing and it was a 
quasi-government supported debt which would give the Authority security.  

Members were advised in terms of borrowing the early redemption of loans 
remained expensive o the Council hadn't redeemed any loans early during the year, 
however all maturing loans had been repaid in full during the year.  The Council had 
complied with all prudential indicators as detailed in Appendix E, it was noted that a 
revision had been made to these indicators and approved alongside with the 2022-
23 Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

The Director of Finance advised the Committee overall the Council was in a positive 
position and the Council had maintained good liquidity and return on its 
investments.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

It was explained in order to add value to the portfolio GCC had increased the use of 
strategic funds, adding £10 million to existing funds during the year (£20m in total).  
Following the Council motion to move away from fossil fuel exposure, GCC had 
worked closely with its treasury advisors to identify funds that meet the Economic, 
Social and Governance (ESG) objectives of the Council and had invested an £10 
million in 2 ESG funds. During the discussion, members requested further 
clarification on the ESG investment total as detailed on Page 110 of the report, as 
there appeared to be some discrepancy.  (Action - AR). 

In response to a question, members were informed that GCC was committed to 
withdrawing from any investments relating to Russia/Belarus and there would be no 
additional investments in any Russian based funds.

Members were interested in the possibility of investing in social housing in the 
County, Officers explained that Treasury Management related to the financial best 
interest, if an opportunity arose the Council would consider if.  The Executive 
Director advised the Committee that Treasury Management function was different 
to Capital Programmes but members should be minded not to confuse the roles.  

During the discussion, members requested to know the percentage for the return on 
investments, given the average borrowing cost was 4.62%.  The Executive Director 
explained the difference between investment and borrowing, as it depended on the 
amounts involved and the length of the investment and the report gave a positive 
view.  Officers agreed to provide this information in a more detailed format and a 
copy of the Treasury Management Strategy to members via email after the meeting.  
(Action - AR) 

The Chair referred to internal borrowing and the benefit of using tax payer's money 
to invest in Gloucestershire, he wondered if there was a tolerance to local 
investments.  The Executive Director explained it was possible, and it could be 
done via Treasury Management, however it was not possible to withdraw from the 
investment at short notice.  It was recognised that local schemes had different risks 
associated with them, officers aired on the side of caution and felt it was better to 
keep Treasury Management and Capital Investments separate.  

RESOLVED

That the Committee considered and noted the Treasury Management Annual 
Report for 2021/22.

11. ANNUAL REPORT RISK MANAGEMENT 

Darren Skinner, Head of Planning, Performance & Insight explained the report 
aimed to update and provide assurance to the Audit & Governance Committee 
(AGC) on changes and improvements made to the Risk Management (RM) 
Framework during 2020-2021.

It was explained through the Council’s Constitution, the Audit and Governance 
Committee had responsibility for monitoring the effective development and 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

operation of risk management in the Council and to monitor progress in addressing 
risk-related issues reported to the Committee.   The annual activity report 
summarised the key changes and improvements to the risk management 
framework each year, including amendments to the Strategic Risk Register.
It was noted there was an independent review of risk management, which was 
presented to the committee in April 2022.  A table of the ‘suggested items for 
consideration’ from that report had been collated, with the proposed actions for 
taking forward and were detailed at page 126 of the report. It was noted that a 
member development session took place on the 17th June 2022 and addressed 
some of the actions and recommendations.  
Members attention was drawn to point ten and it was noted that in terms of risk 
management resource, staff skills sets were being spread across the wider team 
and a medium term financial strategy bid was being developed for a second RM 
trained post for the team.  
Members were advised the Strategic Risk Register scorecard for Quarter 4 2021/22 
was also attached. However, it was noted the changes listed in the report would not 
take effect until reporting for Quarter 1 2022/23.
In response to a question relating to the risks on Page 128 of the report, members 
wondered if the amended risks had been reviewed by the external auditor, in 
particular the wording on SRR 3.2.  It was explained that this would be undertaken 
in a follow up to the review by internal audit in the Autumn.  
The Committee were advised that the new risk register format and detail would be 
presented to COSC at the end of this quarter and would clearly show the progress 
and impact made to date.  
Members were pleased to note the new risk regarding the Care Act and Care Cap 
Reform would be included in the risk register, as this was a significant risk.  
Members were concerned given the history of Central Government shifting liabilities 
on to local authorities but not shifting the resources required.  Members felt there 
was potential for a severe impact and felt the risk and accountability should be 
clear.  Officers accepted the challenge but reminded members that Audit & 
Governance's Committee role was different to that of a scrutiny committee in its 
function.  
The Executive Director explained although Government had deferred Section 18.3 
for existing social care clients it unfortunately hadn't been deferred for new clients, 
which meant the work still had to be undertaken and could impact social care 
providers.  Senior officer groups were meeting and lobbying for clear guidance, as it 
was an area of concern as there were a number of self- funders of care in the 
system too.  
The Executive Director explained that an officers group was working collaboratively 
on this issue and he was comfortable with GCC's journey but acknowledged there 
was a lot more work to do.  Officers across the directorates were working closely on 
the modelling, to ensure the numbers were up to date.  It was anticipated that the 
new format would display the risks and mitigations more clearly.  
In terms of governance, it was noted that the Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Commissioning and the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

were acutely aware of the risks and they were monitoring the issues nationally and 
locally.    
The Chair felt the risk register should clearly identify the Cabinet Member and 
Director who owned the risk and the scrutiny committee with the oversight function 
for that risk.  The Monitoring Officer explained the Director with responsibility was 
defined in the Risk Register, and he felt the new format was fairly self-explanatory 
but he offered to look at the additional requests in due course.  Members were 
advised the whole risk register was presented to COSC, so the chairs of the 
individual scrutiny committees had sight of the report.  The Chair reiterated his 
request to clearly see who owns what risk, and how that risk was dealt with as he 
felt members needed assurance.  
The Executive Director suggested it was up to the individual scrutiny committee if 
they wished to review the risk register and reiterated the COSC had sight of the 
document.  Some members felt it was up to the individual scrutiny committees if 
they wished to review the risk register.    
Officers felt that the implementation of social care change would be high on the 
Government's agenda but officers were actively feeding into discussions via the 
professional networks at local and national levels.   
Resolved 

That the Committee noted the key developments in the framework this year 
and approved the actions against suggested improvements, put forward in 
the independent review of risk carried out by TIAA.

The Committee noted the amendments to the strategic risk register arising 
from its annual review at Corporate Leadership Team.

12. INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

Piyush Fatania, Head of Audit, Risk and Assurance (ARA) presented the 
Committee with an Annual Report on Internal Audit activity, which met the reporting 
requirements as set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017.    
The report provided the Head of ARA’s annual opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council’s Internal Control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance, this opinion supported the Council’s Annual 
Governance Statement. 

The Head of ARA drew member's attention to pages 146 - 147 of the report, which 
gave a summary of Internal Audit assurance opinions on risk and control for 2021-
22.  Members were advised there would be a single assurance level going forward.

The summary of work undertaken were detailed from page 150 onwards, there 
were a number of audits that were completed since late March.  

In response to a question, it was confirmed that deferred audits would be 
undertaken in due course.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Members were advised that reports showing the progress made by management to 
implement ARA recommendations would be regularly presented to the Committee, 
CLT & SLT meetings. The Head of ARA explained there were issues with the 
current ARA time management system and it was due to be replaced, ARA were 
working closely with IT to develop a new system to populate the recommendation 
reports for ease of reporting and monitoring.  It was noted once this work had been 
completed, reports would be presented to Committee and Directors to help monitor 
the implementation of recommendation.  

In response to a question, the Executive Director explained that a 'ghost pensioner' 
was a data term used for the reconciliation of pension to payment records for data 
clarification purposes.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the progress and final position on the Internal 
Audit Plan 2021/22; and noted the assurance opinions provided in relation to 
the effectiveness of the Council’s control environment as a result of the 
Internal Audit activity completed.

13. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE HEAD OF AUDIT RISK ASSURANCE 

The Head of Audit, Risk & Assurance presented the report and explained the 
Annual Report on Internal Audit activity met the reporting requirements, as set out 
in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017.  He wished to extend 
his thanks to the ARA team who had worked very hard and diligently throughout the 
year and the support received from Members and officers throughout the Council.  

In response to a question, it was noted that in 2021/22 the level of risk to the 
Council was low to medium and there were no material changes to the risk profile.  

The Head of ARA reported that 80% of the revised internal audit plan had been 
completed and that 100% of the customer satisfaction surveys regarded the Internal 
Audit Service as good or excellent.  

Resolved 

That the Committee assessed, from the findings set out in the Annual Report 
of the Head of ARA 2021/22, that it could take reasonable assurance that the 
internal control environment, comprising risk management, control and 
governance was operating effectively; 

That the Committee noted the performance of Internal Audit met the required 
standards; and noted the Council's wide counter fraud activity completed 
during 2021/22.

14. GOVERNOR SERVICES - ANNUAL SCHOOLS ASSURANCE STATEMENTS 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Kirsten Harrison, Director of Education, provided the Committee with an annual 
report on school assurance statements provided by the governing boards of Local 
Authority (LA) maintained schools and confirmed the statements met the reporting 
requirements.  The Director of Education provided assurance to the Committee that 
processes were in place to manage the Internal Audit identified schools’ risks and 
updated on audit recommendation implementation.

The confirmed assurance approach for 2020/21 applied by Education/Governor 
Services, was designed to meet the objective to provide assurance that processes 
were in place to manage the Internal Audit identified schools’ risks, and to update 
on audit recommendation implementation. 

Members noted that Governor Services had exercised its role in ensuring that 
Governing Boards followed up and completed as required the recommendations for 
action that were made in a school audit report.  It was explained the overarching 
key findings that required improvement from the finalised audits related to: 
Governance and Budgetary Control, Procurement and Staffing and Payroll. 

In all cases, the governing board statement had confirmed that the recommended 
actions had been completed by the governing board, or that boards are in the 
process of ensuring that the actions are completed. 

The Committee were advised that the overarching key findings that required 
improvement from the finalised audits, related to: Governance and Budgetary 
Control, Procurement and Staffing and Payroll and these areas had been 
communicated to governors across the county.  In addition, any key themes and 
common findings had been shared via Schoolsnet, the Heads Up and What’s Up 
Gov newsletters for school leaders.  

In response to a question, it was explained that Area Finance Teams and Governor 
Services provided support for LA maintained schools and it was recognised there 
were different challenges faced by the different schools.  The support provided by 
GCC was intended to be a collaborative approach.  

It was noted that the process would change when all schools became academies 
and a different auditing scheme would be in place via the Education Schools 
Funding Agency – the finance wing of the DfE. Members were informed that 193 of 
the 301 schools in the county were LA maintained so the timeline for the full 
academisation of that number of schools would be across now to 2030.  The DoE 
explained the ultimate goal was for GCC to remain an influential stakeholder in 
ensuring a high quality education system in the county in the move to a trust led 
system.  

Resolved 

That the Committee assessed the findings in the annual report and took 
reasonable assurance that approach taken by Education was reasonable and 
agreed the next steps as outlined in the report.  
 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

15. DRAFT GLOUCESTERSHIRE CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS 

Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer presented the report and requested Committee's 
agreement to consult with members of the Council on the text of a draft 
Gloucestershire Councils’ Councillor Code of Conduct.

The Committee were advised that the Councillor Code of Conduct was a key 
element of the Council’s Corporate Governance Framework.  The purpose of the 
Code was to ensure that Councillors understood their individual role in maintaining 
high standards of conduct, to ensure that such standards were maintained at all 
times, and to allow action to be taken when breaches of the Code occurred.

It was recognised the Council’s current Code of Conduct had been in place and had 
remained unchanged, when it was introduced in response to the Localism Act 2011 
which abolished the previous regime.  It had been reviewed on an annual basis by 
this committee but has remained unchanged.  

In 2019, a national review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL) on 
the content of local Codes of Conduct and recommended that the LGA develop a 
common model Code of Conduct that Councils that Authorities could use as a 
mode and adopt and/or adapt to suit their circumstances.  The LGA accepted this 
recommendation, and completed work on a Model Code of Conduct in December 
2020, which had since been modified to correct a number of minor anomalies.  

In March 2021, as the body responsible for overseeing and reviewing this Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Councillors, Audit & Governance committee reviewed the draft 
LGA Model Code of Conduct.   It was recognised that, while the LGA Code of 
Conduct provided a helpful starting point, the early indications were that it would not 
be adopted wholesale by all of Gloucestershire’s District Councils.  Members at the 
time felt GCC's code of conduct was unhelpfully brief and adopted a high level code 
which focused on the principles of public life and the legal requirements.  

Over time the Monitoring Officer had come to the view that in some ways the broad 
principles were helpful but in others they weren't. In practice, in determining the 
merits of a complaint and given that the code principles were broad he had to look 
at precedents and other codes in order to take a view.  It was also misleading to 
members of the public in terms of the complaints process in that it gave them the 
impression that the code is broader than it can be in practice.  

It was explained there was previously support for a shared Code of Conduct with 
Gloucestershire’s District Councils with a view to achieving a common Code of 
Conduct across all tiers of local government in Gloucestershire.  

Members were advised that initial progress in drafting that code was hampered by a 
number of changes in those occupying the Monitoring Officer role in District 
Councils.  However, greater stability over the past few months had enabled 
significant progress to be made, resulting in a draft Code of Conduct which the 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Monitoring Officers of all 7 councils are happy to recommend to their authorities as 
the basis for further consultation.  

Members were advised that these potential benefits had been strengthened by the 
involvement of Gloucestershire Association of Parish and Town Councils (GAPTC).  
It was noted while individual parishes are under no obligation to adopt a common 
Gloucestershire Code, GAPTC is extremely supportive of them doing so, as it 
would enable them to provide better advice, support and training.  

It was intended that the draft Code of Conduct was used as the basis for each 
council to consult with its members.  Each Council would determine how best to do 
that.  In the case of Gloucestershire County Council, with this committee’s 
agreement, the Monitoring Officer proposed to share the draft Code of Conduct with 
all members as soon as possible, and to seek written responses between now and 
the end of September.   It was noted that Members may wish to respond 
individually, or collectively through their political groups. 

The Monitoring Officer explained he and his District counterparts would reconvene 
in September to consider the feedback received and produce a final draft which we 
will recommend to each Council for approval.  In Gloucestershire’s case, the 
process would be:

• 30 September – Audit & Governance Committee: to seek the 
committee’s support for the final draft
• 10 October – Constitution Committee: to seek the committee’s 
approval to recommend the final draft to County Council
• 9 November – County Council:  to seek agreement to adopt the 
Code of Conduct.

It was noted that some parishes had recently renewed their codes but Members 
would like the opportunity to read, compare and comment on the code.  

The Committee felt the draft was clearly an improvement on the current code but 
that gap in terms of scope and the reasonable public perception of member's 
behaviour in terms of their private and personal life puts them in conflict of the 
principles in the code.  The Monitoring Officer explained that the private life element 
was sometimes difficult and case law determined what was included in the code.   
Members accepted that point but felt that some councillors could commit vexatious 
breaches that were matters of public concern.  The MO explained in some cases 
the code should work in accordance with the political group discipline measures.  

In response to a question, it was recognised that not all councils had elections at 
the same time, it would be for the Districts to decide when to implement the code.  
However, it was noted that all Monitoring Officers were happy to take it through 
their appropriate processes.  The dilemma was that the 7 Primary Councils and 
200+ Parishes would never align, so there was a need for give and take. Members 
were asked to differentiate between non-negotiable issues and enhancements in 
the code, in order to assist the Monitoring Officer. 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

During the discussion, it was suggested that Councillors who represent themselves 
as a resident, for example in the case of homes for Ukraine scheme and perhaps 
the code should include some guidance on this area, given the dividing line and not 
wanting to over step the mark.  The MO agreed to take the point on board and 
reminded members if ever they were unsure they should call him for advice to 
discuss the issue.  

Some members felt that governance could change on a daily basis and questioned 
what guidance was available.  The Nolan principles were referred to page 210, as 
that gave a comprehensive list of how to behave and the foundation which the code 
was built.  The MO explained there was an enhanced right of freedom of speech as 
a Councillor and this had been tested through the courts.  Members noted there 
was a fine line between freedom of speech and being offensive.  

Members questioned the word “unlawfully” under the rules of conduct, as defined in 
paragraph 4 (page 211 of the report).  It was explained that this point had been 
widely debated by the MO group.  It was included to distinguish between unlawful 
discrimination, and those occasions where it might be necessary for the Council to 
discriminate between those who were eligible for a service and those who were not.  

Members asked about the extent to which complaints were co-ordinated between 
the different tiers of council, particularly for those members who were dual or triple 
hatted.  The MO explained that it would depend on what capacity the Councillor 
was acting in when the complaint was made, and if necessary a complaint would be 
referred to another MO.  

In response to a question, it was noted that training workshops would be scheduled 
once the code had been adopted by the Council.  

Resolved 

That the committee noted the progress made on developing a draft 
Gloucestershire Councils’ Councillor Code of Conduct and agreed the 
content of the draft be shared as the basis for consultation with County 
Councillors during August and September. 

16. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ANNUAL REPORT 

Jenny Grodzicka, The Head of Information Management Systems (IMS) presented 
the report in detail.  It was explained that the requests management team, in the 
Information Management Service, was responsible for ensuring the council met its 
statutory obligations with regard to request management, but this relied on timely 
engagement with service areas in order to do so.  These fell into two categories:
• Freedom of Information (FOI) and Environmental Information 

Regulation (EIR) Requests
• Subject Access Requests (SARs)

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

It was recognised over recent years, the council had seen a steady continuation of 
Freedom of Information (FOI) / Environmental Information Regulation (EIR).

In addition, there had been a rise in the number of subject access requests (SARs) 
being made under the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Many service 
users request this right as a tool to better understand decisions made that directly 
affect them and, on occasion, to hold the council to account.  The Authority receive 
fewer SARs than FOI requests, but the volumes of information involved can be 
immense and as a result, resource-intensive to deal with.  Nevertheless, they 
should be seen as a key part of the ongoing relationship between the council and 
its service users. 

It was noted that the council responded to 76% of all requests with the statutory 
timescales in the last financial year (21/22), compared with 73% in the previous 12 
months.    In terms of FOI requests it was noted that Council generally received 
around 1600-1700 requests per year.  

The Committee were advised that numbers received dropped during the pandemic 
and there had been a slight increase in demand but demand remained similar to 
2020-21 and had not returned to pre-pandemic levels.  

It was explained the process was highly dependent on service areas providing 
information in response to requests and during this unprecedented period they had 
seen unusually high and differing demands on their time.  The Head of IMS 
explained that requests were becoming more sophisticated and that often required 
more time.  

The Committee were advised that FOI/EIR performance had remained steady at 
around 80% requests being responded to on time in 2021/22. SAR Performance 
was reported at 51% and the national target of 90% on time, was set by the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).  In an effort to overcome the issues staff 
capacity had been increased, however it was recognised it would take time to train 
staff in order for the performance rates to change and slightly lower than average 
performance appeared to be a national issue. Members were advised that the ICO 
recognised this issue.  

In response to a question, it was explained that vexatious complaints were 
inevitably emotive but it was important to remember that it was the request that was 
vexatious and not the individual.  The number of vexatious had decreased as they 
were dealt with and carefully managed by the team.   

The Head of IMS explained that members of the public were directed to find 
information readily available online.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

17. ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S USE OF THE REGULATION OF 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) 

Gillian Parkinson, Assistant Director of Legal Services presented the report in 
detail.  The report informed the Committee of the use of directed surveillance and 
covert human intelligent sources and reported on the results of the inspection by 
the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office undertaken during 2021/22.   

It was noted that there had been no applications for covert operations, this was a 
direct consequence of suspension of enforcement activities during the Covid 
pandemic period.   

Members attention was drawn to table on page 239 of the report, which detailed 
progress made against matters raised during the IPCO inspection on the 12th May 
2022.  The Committee noted the IPCO's letter on page 241 of the report and were 
advised that the revised procedural guidance would be published on Staffnet in due 
course.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the use of surveillance across the Council.

The Committee agreed with the conclusions and supported the proposal to 
proceed with the outstanding recommended actions.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.45 pm

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



P
age 17

A
genda Item

 6



Commercial in confidence

P
age 18



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 19



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 20



Commercial in confidence

P
age 21



Commercial in confidence

P
age 22



Commercial in confidence

. 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 23



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 24



Commercial in confidence

P
age 25



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 26



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 27



Commercial in confidence

P
age 28



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee effectiveness tool -
National Audit Office (NAO) Report

P
age 29



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

P
age 30



P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

30th September 2022

TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT

Title of Report   Treasury Management Update Report 2022/23

Purpose of Report 
To inform Members about Treasury Management activities for the 2022/23 
Financial Year to date, in accordance with CIPFA’s Treasury Management 
in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance 
Notes.

Recommendations To note the Treasury Management Update Report.

Officers
Paul Blacker: Finance Director  (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey: Finance Manager (Planning and Treasury)
kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

Gloucestershire County Councils (GCC’s) Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) for 2022/23 was approved by the Council in February 2022.  GCC borrows and 
invests substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including 
the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 
successful identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore central to GCC’s 
TMSS.

The Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) published its revised 
Treasury Management Code of Practice (the TM Code) and Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in December 2021. The key changes in the two codes are around permitted 
reasons to borrow, knowledge and skills, and the management of non-treasury 
investments. The principles within the two Codes took immediate effect although local 
authorities could defer introducing revised reporting requirements within the revised 
Codes until the 2023/24 financial year.

The revised reporting requires a quarterly summary of all forward-looking prudential 
indicators to be presented to Cabinet. GCC has started to incorporate the new reporting 
requirements on a draft basis into the Cabinet Report, to ensure that the statutory 
reporting timeline is met.  This new reporting requirement to Cabinet is therefore in 
additional to the scrutiny process provided by this Audit and Governance Committee. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:John.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk


The CIPFA Code still requires that members be informed of treasury management 
activities at least twice a year. This mid year report ensures GCC is embracing best 
practice in accordance with CIPFA’s recommendations.

This report considers the Treasury Management activities in relation to the TMSS for 
2022/23.  It includes a summary of the current economic climate, an update on the 
borrowing strategy, a review of current investments and compliance with prudential 
indicators.  

2. The Economy to August 2022

Economic Background: 
Following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February, global inflationary pressures have 
intensified sharply, leading to a sizeable deterioration in the outlook for world and UK 
growth.

The economic backdrop in the April-June quarter was characterised by higher oil, gas 
and commodity prices, fears of rising and persistent inflation and its damaging impact on 
consumers’ cost of living, little indication of an imminent end to Russia-Ukraine hostilities 
and supply chain bottlenecks exacerbated by war in Ukraine and lockdowns in China.   

Added to this was tough rhetoric and action by central bankers globally on fighting 
inflation through higher interest rates and quantitative tightening even as financial 
conditions became increasingly difficult for consumers, more so for those whose wages 
have not kept pace with inflation.  

In the UK inflation remained elevated. Ofgem, the energy regulator, increased the energy 
price cap by 54% in April, equivalent to around £700 for a household with average energy 
consumption (the cap had already increased 12% back in October 2021). May data 
showed CPI edging higher to 9.1% while the core CPI rate, which removes energy, fuel 
and food was 5.9%. RPI rose to 11.7%.  CPI inflation beat expectations to hit 10.1% in 
July, and retail sales rose marginally rather than falling as expected.

The labour market continued to show signs of tightness as employers struggled to fill 
vacancies with workers with skill sets matching their requirements.  The unemployment 
rate for April fell to 3.8% and is now below pre-pandemic levels. Pay growth was 6.8% 
for total pay (including bonuses) and 4.2% for regular pay; however, adjusted for inflation, 
growth in total pay was just 0.4%, whilst regular pay fell 2.2%. 

Unsurprisingly, with disposable income squeezed and another energy cap increase due 
in October, consumer confidence plummeted to the level last seen during the 2008/09 
financial crisis. Quarterly GDP growth was 0.8% in the January-March quarter and the 
Bank of England now expects a decline of 0.3% in Q2 2022. 

Having increased interest rates by 0.25% in April, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy 
Committee on the 15th of June 2022 voted 6-3 to increase the official Bank Rate by 
0.25% to 1.25%, and on the 3rd August voted 8-1 to increase it further to 1.75%.  Rises 
in the input and output producer price measures suggest further inflationary pressure is 
in the pipeline.  Recent UK data points have cemented expectations for a series of 50 
basis point rate hikes from the Bank of England in the months ahead.

Page 34



Annual inflation in the US rose to 8.6% in May, the highest in nearly 40 years. The Federal 
Reserve also stepped up its fight against inflation with a 0.5% hike in rates in May 
followed by a further increase of 0.75% in June, the latter its most aggressive hike since 
1994 and higher than markets expected, taking policy rates to a range of 1.5% - 1.75%. 

Inflation in the Eurozone also pushed higher to 8.1%, with energy price pressures a major 
contributor.  Europe is heavily impacted by the energy crisis following the Russian 
invasion of Ukraine, but concerns about the Eurozone’s peripheral members and highly 
indebted members states complicates the European Central Bank’s response as it seeks 
to normalise monetary policy. The ECB stated it would end quantitative easing at the 
beginning of July and then increase interest rates by 0.25% later in the month, the first 
hike since 2011. The central bank’s Governing Council also convened an emergency 
meeting in June to address ‘fragmentation’ risks.  

Financial Markets: 
Heightened uncertainty characterised financial market sentiment and bond yields were 
similarly volatile but with a general upward trend as concern over higher inflation and 
higher interest rates dominated. 

Over the quarter the 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield rose from 1.41% to 1.89%, the 10-
year gilt yield rose from 1.61% to 2.35% and the 20-year yield from 1.82% to 2.60%. The 
Sterling Overnight Rate (SONIA) averaged 0.89% over the period.

Credit review: 

Having completed its full review of its credit advice on unsecured deposits at UK and 
non-UK banks, in May our treasury management advisors, Arlingclose, extended the 
maximum duration limit for five UK banks, four Canadian banks and four German banks 
to six months. The maximum duration for unsecured deposits with other UK and non-UK 
banks on Arlingclose’s recommended list is 100 days.  

Arlingclose continued to monitor and assess credit default swap levels for signs of credit 
stress but made no changes to the counterparty list or recommended durations. 
Nevertheless, increased market volatility is expected to remain a feature, at least in the 
near term and, as ever, the institutions and durations on GCC’s counterparty list 
recommended by Arlingclose remains under constant review.  The list is shown at 
Appendix A.

In July an article published by the Bureau of Investigative Journalism made serious 
allegations over Thurrock Borough Council’s investments in the renewable energy sector. 
All new lending to Thurrock was suspended following this, whilst our treasury advisers 
sought clarity over these investments.  GCC has £15 million invested with Thurrock with 
£10 million due to mature this financial year and £5m in 2023/24.

Slough Borough Council remains suspended from GCC’s lending list following their 
issuing of a s114 notice in July 2021, and due to their continued weak financial position.  
GCC has one existing deposit of £5 million with Slough that will mature in May 2023.

Despite the financial difficulties being experienced by these two Councils GCC and 
Arlingclose are confident that the loans will be repaid in full at maturity. 

Page 35



3. Borrowing Strategy 2022/23

At 31st March 2022, GCC’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured 
by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was £457.6 million.  Actual external 
borrowing was £246.7m at this date and £153.0m of other long term liabilities associated 
with GCC’s PFI schemes and Waste finance lease – a total of £399.7 million. The shortfall 
was funded by £57.9 million of internal borrowing. 

GCC has an approved capital programme in 2022/23 funded from grants, revenue 
contributions, internal borrowing, capital receipts and reserves.  The borrowing strategy 
for 2022/23 is to hold any borrowing requirement internally and ensure all long term debt 
due to mature in the financial year is repaid.  Two loans will mature before the end of the 
financial year totalling £6.9million - both will be repaid in full.  

Any shortfall between the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes and total 
external debt will be funded from internal borrowing because it continues to provide the 
best value for funding new capital expenditure, as well as being a low risk option.  GCC 
can externalise the internal debt by borrowing from the PWLB, however new 
requirements mean that GCC has to confirm that we are not planning to use capital funds 
to purchase ‘investment assets primarily for yield’ in the current or next two financial 
years, with confirmation of the purpose of capital expenditure from the Deputy Chief 
Executive and Executive Director of Corporate Resources. 

Acceptable use of PWLB borrowing includes service delivery, housing, regeneration, 
preventative action, refinancing and treasury management.  All of our current capital 
schemes comply with the PWLB requirements.

Currently the average loan cost for GCC is 4.63%, (4.69% on the PWLB portfolio, 5% on 
other fixed loans and 4.23% on the LOBO loans) – this compares to an average of 4.65% 
at the same point in 2021/22.  The premium charge for early repayment of PWLB debt 
has remained expensive for the loans in GCC’s portfolio and therefore unattractive for 
debt rescheduling or early redemption activity. No rescheduling activity has been 
undertaken as a consequence.  The borrowing strategy will be kept under review to 
ensure the funding methods remain appropriate.  The current maturity profile for GCC is 
shown in Appendix B.  

4. Investment Strategy 2022/23

GCC holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  Cash flow analysis during the period April 
2022 to date has shown that GCC’s investment balances ranged between £303.6 million 
and £352.5 million as shown below, giving a core cash position of up to £303.6 million 
(ie balances that could theoretically be invested for longer periods):

Page 36



270.00

280.00

290.00

300.00

310.00

320.00

330.00

340.00

350.00

360.00

01/04/2022 01/05/2022 01/06/2022 01/07/2022 01/08/2022

£m

Period From 1st April 2022 to 22nd August 2022

Investment Balances

Core Cash

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require GCC to invest its funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury investments 
before seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  GCCs objective when investing money 
is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring 
losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income.

With the recent increases in Bank Rate at the MPC’s meetings and with the prospect of 
more increases to come, short-dated cash rates have continued to rise. Arlingclose 
expects Bank Rate to rise by 50 basis points at the next MPC meeting in September and 
a further 25 basis points at both subsequent MPC meetings in November and December, 
with Bank Rate peaking at 2.75%. 

Market expectations for Bank Rate have picked up sharply mid August – the updated 
forward curve suggests Bank Rate peaking around 4% in mid-2023. The projected rise to 
3.25% in December will require a further 1.5% of Bank Rate hikes, suggesting 0.5% at 
each of the next three MPC meetings.

As a result of increasing interest rates the focus has moved to shorted dated bank 
investments, moving away from a longer term strategy that has dominated the last few 
years.  Banks have been pricing in the Bank Rate rises, providing a good pick up in returns 
whilst allowing GCC to manage interest rate risk by keeping the durations short.

The current year budget for interest earned is £3.6 million and the current forecast is that 
this will be exceeded by £1.8 million in 2022/23 – as reflected in the latest Financial 
Monitoring Report to Cabinet. This is slightly ahead of the 2021/22 year end position.  

The average income return on investments as at the end of June 2022 is 1.84%.  This 
compares to a 1.43% income return at the same point in 2021/22.  Including capital return 
within these figures increases the return to 2.6% as at June 2022, compared to a gain of 
2.2% at the same point in 2021.  The reason for the improved position in total return is 
due to the ongoing recovery of capital value of our strategic funds following the Covid 
pandemic, offset against the worsening economic conditions as a result of high inflation, 
and the war in Ukraine.

Page 37



It should be noted that the strategic investments within the portfolio are viewed as long 
term investments.  Despite fluctuations in capital value they have all continued to pay out 
regular dividends throughout the Covid pandemic and since purchase, thus maintaining 
good income returns. 

The graph at Appendix C shows the performance of GCC from the income only return (ie 
excluding capital gains and losses) compared to other local authorities, and the graph at 
Appendix D shows the rate of return against GCC’s risk appetite in comparison to other 
councils. Both graphs show that GCC’s performance exceeds average rate of return 
achieved by other local authorities.

Internally Managed Funds

As at 22nd August 2022 GCC had a number of longer term deposits totalling £120 million.  
This includes £25 million longer term investments with other local authorities, a Property 
Fund (£30 million) and longer dated strategic funds (£65 million).  

On a shorter term GCC makes regular fixed term deposits for up to one year with UK and 
selected foreign banks, subject to duration limits advised by Arlingclose (current limit 6 
months on selected banks and 3 months for others), other local authorities and selected 
Housing Associations.  Liquidity is maintained through the use of call facilities and money 
market funds (MMF’s).  The full list including duration limits is shown at Appendix A.

Externally Managed Pooled Funds

£95.0 million of GCC’s investments are held in externally managed strategic pooled, 
equity, multi-asset and property funds where short-term security and liquidity are lesser 
considerations, and the objectives instead are regular revenue income and long-term 
price stability.  These funds generated an average total return of £3.7 million which is 
used to support services in year.  

Strategic fund investments are made in the knowledge that capital values will move both 
up and down on months, quarters and even years; but with the aim that over a three- to 
five-year period total returns will exceed cash interest rates.  Capital values on all of the 
funds had improved as at the end of the 2021/22 financial year, however with the 
worsening economic conditions currently being experienced values have begun to 
reduce.  These funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after 
a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting GCC’s medium to 
long-term investment objectives are regularly reviewed.  

The following details the maturity profile of internal and pooled balances as at 22nd August 
2022:

Page 38



Fund Type / Duration % £m
Callable and cnav MMF 6.09% 19.597
Vnav MMF (1-3 days notice) 4.66% 15.000
Under 3 months 14.61% 47.001
35 day notice A/C 3.11% 10.000
3-6 months 21.77% 70.009
6-12 months 12.44% 40.001
Over 12 months (incl Longer Dated Funds) 37.31% 120.000

100.00% 321.608

Callable and Constant Net Asset Value (cnav) MMF’s are represented by an interest 
bearing Lloyds Bank current account, three instant access MMF’s and 2 notice accounts.  
The Variable Net Asset Value (Vnav) MMF of £15 million, although cash can be accessed 
within 2-3 days, is managed externally and this fund is subject to volatility on the principal 
value resulting in capital gains and losses.  Generally, these longer dated MMF’s provide 
a better return than the Cnav funds, however they are unlikely to be matured unless the 
capital value was fully recovered.  Like the strategic funds they provide a regular 
consistent dividend throughout the year.  A detailed breakdown of approved and current 
investments as at 22nd August 2022 is provided at Appendix A.  

Investment Activity to Date 

Given the increasingly changeable economic situation over recent months, improved bank 
rates, and increased durations, there has been a change in how investments are 
distributed.  This is shown below comparing August 2021 to August 2022:

£0.00

£20.00

£40.00

£60.00

£80.00

£100.00

£120.00

£140.00

£160.00

Banks - UK Banks -
Foreign

HA LA MMF+ MMFs FRN/Bond Strategic

£m

Investment Balances

2021 2022

Bank durations were relaxed in May 2022, following a detailed credit review.  Selected 
UK and foreign banks are now available for up to 6 month duration.  Bank rates are 
currently very volatile due to the rapidly changing economic situation, with rates for banks 
on our lending list, as at August 2022 for 3 months averaging around 1.63% (compared 
to 0.04% at a similar point in 2021).  Where we can use slightly longer dated 6 month 
banks, rates average 2.65%.  At this point in 2021, we were mainly lending to other local 
authorities at an average of0.3% for 1 year and 0.45% for 2 years.

Page 39



Use of MMF’s has reduced in recent months, although rates have become more attractive 
compared to this time last year.  Generally rates are now around 1.5% compared to 0.01% 
last year.  MMF’s tend to be more secure as they are diversified over many institutions, 
rather than being concentrated in one name.  MMF’s are used as a liquidity tool by GCC.  
The table below details the balance comparison between the end of 2021/22 and August 
2022.

Short term Investments (call 
accounts, deposits)

- Banks and Building Societies 
with ratings of A- or higher 35.5 85.0 -30.9 89.6 1.9%
- Local Authorities 90.0 10.0 -18.0 82.0 0.7%

Long term Investments

-  Strategic Funds 95.0 0.0 0.0 95.0 4.0%
- Local Authorities 35.0 5.0 -15.0 25.0 0.9%
Money Market Funds 41.8 117.0 -143.8 15.0 1.0%
Pooled Funds 15.0 0.0 0.0 15.0 0.5%

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 312.3 321.6
Increase/ (Decrease) in 
Investments £m 9.3

Avg Rate 
(%) Investments

Balance on 
31/03/2022  

£m

Investments 
Made        
£m

Maturities/ 
Investments 

Sold £m

Balance on 
22/08/2022  

£m

Security of capital remains GCC’s main investment objective.  This was maintained during 
the first part of the financial year by following GCC’s counterparty policy as set out in its 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2022/23.  This restricts new investments 
to the following: 

 interest-bearing bank accounts,
 fixed term deposits and loans,
 callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment 

at any time (with or without notice),
 callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before 

maturity, but subject to a maximum of £30 million in total,
 certificates of deposit,
 bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable instruments, 
 shares in money market funds and other pooled funds, and
 reverse repurchase (repo) agreements,
 Real Estate Investment Trusts.

Credit Risk:  Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored in line with the 
approved Treasury Management Strategy.

Page 40



5. Responsible Investment Policy

GCC has developed and implemented a Responsible Investment Policy for treasury 
activity.  To enable continued investment in longer dated pooled funds, GCC has worked 
with our treasury advisors on a thematic fund selection.  This has allowed GCC to select 
two additional funds that meet the agreed 2019 Council Motion, which rules out new 
investments in funds with fossil fuel exposures.  Both of these deposits were placed 
towards the end of 2021/22 financial year with £5m being placed into the BMO 
Responsible UK Income Fund and £5m into Rathbones Ethical Bond Fund.

As part of the 2022/23 treasury activity to date it is confirmed that all direct investments 
have fully complied with GCC’s treasury policy.  

6. Compliance with Prudential Indicators

GCC can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 2022/23, which 
were set in February 2022 as part of GCC’s TMSS.  

Details can be found in Appendix E.

7. Outlook for the rest of the year

Monetary policymakers are pushing through with monetary tightening even as global 
recessionary risks rise, particularly in the EZ and UK. The inflationary impact of the 
Ukraine invasion may be easing in some areas, but wholesale gas prices continue to be 
driven higher, with significant implications for UK inflation rates. The BoE now forecasts 
CPI inflation to exceed 13%, with energy and fuel prices contributing half of that amount. 
With no resolution to the Ukraine conflict in sight and winter approaching, it is difficult to 
see these pressures easing.

High sustained inflation will lead to zero or negative GDP growth for Q2 2022 onwards in 
the UK, due to negative real household disposable income growth. Data suggest that 
households are curtailing spending in response to higher prices. BoE sources, however, 
suggest that businesses remain confident of passing higher costs on. Further fiscal 
intervention is likely, but could have inflationary implications.

The UK labour market is tight and nominal wage growth is running above pre-COVID 
levels. Higher wage growth will be a contributory factor to sustained above-target inflation 
and is a key concern for the MPC. Real wage growth will however be unlikely for most 
workers. Weaker economic activity should eventually lead to lower demand for labour and 
reduce wage pressure.

The Bank of England has signalled a more forceful stance on inflation, due to apparent 
broader-based inflationary effects and probably some concerns over the fiscal outlook, 
given the current Tory leadership contest. The MPC is also being pressured by hawkish 
US policy, which has weakened sterling. Its previous moderate approach balancing 
inflation and growth appears to have been put aside – it is now seeking to aggressively 
dampen demand to offset the tight supply picture.

Given the hawkish shift by the MPC, Arlingclose has raised its forecast for Bank Rate over 
the next few months. Rate cuts have been projected sooner in the medium term.

Page 41



8. Non Treasury Investments
The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised 2021 Treasury Management Code 
covers all the financial assets of GCC, as well as other non-financial assets which could 
be held primarily for financial return.   Investments that do not meet the definition of 
treasury management investments as covered above, are categorised as either for 
service purposes (made explicitly to further service objectives) and or for commercial 
purposes (made primarily for financial return).  GCC can confirm that for the year to date 
that no material non treasury investments are held.

9. Summary

In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this report provides 
members with a summary report of the treasury management activity during the first 
period of 2022/23 to 22nd August 2022.   As indicated in this report all Treasury 
Management activities were in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement approved by Council in February 2022, none of the Prudential Indicators have 
been breached and a prudent approach has been taken in relation to investment activity 
with priority being given to security and liquidity over yield.  

Page 42



Appendix A
Approved List and In-House Investments as at 22nd August 2022

Type Country/ 
Domicile Approved Counterparty Current £m 

Unsecured

Maximum 
Duration 

Limit 
(Unsecured)

Santander UK Plc 10.0 100 days
Bank of Scotland Plc  - 6 months
Lloyds Bank Plc 9.6 6 months
Handelsbanken Plc - 100 days
HSBC Bank Plc / HSBC UK Bank Plc - 6 months
Nationwide Building Society - 100 days
National Westminster Bank / Natwest 
Markets Plc - 100 days

Royal Bank of Scotland Plc/T - 100 days

Standard Chartered Bank 15.0 6 months

Australia and NZ Banking Group 15.0 100 days
Commonwealth Bank of Australia - 100 days
Westpac Banking Corp - 100 days
National Australia Bank - 100 days
Bank of Montreal - 100 days
Bank of Nova Scotia - 6 months
Canada Imperial Bank of Commerce - 6 months
National Bank of Canada - 100 days
Royal Bank of Canada - 6 months
Toronto Dominion Bank 15.0 6 months
Nordea Bank Finland - 100 days
OP Corporate Bank PLC - 100 days
DZ 10.0 6 months
Bayeriche Landesbank - 6 months
Landesbanken Baden Wuerttemberg - 6 months
Landesbank Hessen Thuringen 10.0 6 months

Netherlands Rabobank 100 days
OCBC - 100 days
UOB - 100 days
DBS 5.0 100 days

LA / Bills UK Other UK Local Authorities 107.0 2 years
CNAV MMFs 0.0 -
VNAV MMFs (where there is greater than 
12 month history of a consistent £1 Net Asset 
Value)

15.0

Other 
MMFs and 

CIS

UK / Ireland 
/ 

Luxembourg 
domiciled 

Pooled funds which meet the definition 
of a Collective Investment Scheme per 
SI 2004 No 534 and subsequent 
amendments

105.0 -

One Housing Group - 2 years
Network Homes - 2 years
Southern Housing Group - 2 years
Yorkshire Housing Group - 2 years

REIT UK Fundamentum 5.0 2 years
321.6TOTAL

100 days

Finland

Canada

Singapore

UK / Ireland 
/ 

Luxembourg 
domiciled 

HA’s UK

AAA-rated 
Money 
Market 
Funds

Australia

Germany

Te
rm

 D
ep

os
its

 / 
Ca

ll 
Ac

co
un

ts
 / 

CD
s 

/ C
ov

er
ed

 In
st

ru
m

en
ts UK

Barclays Bank Plc / Barclays Bank UK 
Plc -

Page 43



Appendix B

6.
26

%

5.
00

%

4.
60

%
4.

88
%

4.
80

%

4.
75

%
4.

35
%

4.
86

%
4.

85
% 4.

71
%

4.
79

%
4.

78
%

4.
65

%
4.

75
%

4.
73

%
4.

71
%

4.
70

%
4.

70
% 3.
82

%
4.

24
%

4.
55

%
5.

00
%

4.
75

%

4.
46

%

4.
14

%

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

Maturity Profile (including average % loan rate)

Fixed

LOBO

 PWLB

££££

4.
94

%
4.

74
%

P
age 44



0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

Income Only Return on Total Investments (Internal & External Funds)

Average income on internal investments Over-performance of external funds Gloucestershire - 30/06/22

The rate of return has been calculated as:

External pooled funds: income only return for the past year, i.e. excluding 
capital gains and losses.
Other investments: effective interest rate (EIR) of investments held at the 
quarter end date.

Since investment portfolios change over time, this will not equal your actual 
rate of return for the past year, but is a snapshot of current returns.

Appendix C

Source: Arlingclose Limited

Appendix C

P
age 45



0.0%

0.1%

0.2%

0.3%

0.4%

0.5%

0.6%

0.7%

0.8%

0.9%

1.0%

1.1%

1.2%

1.3%

1.4%

1.5%

2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 5 5.5 6

Av
er

ag
e 

Re
tu

rn
 o

n 
In

te
rn

al
 In

ve
st

m
en

ts

Average Credit Risk Score - Valued Weighted Average

Internal Investments: Average Rate vs Credit Risk (value-weighted)

Benchmarking Gloucestershire - 30/06/22

LOW RISK
HIGH RETURN

r=-0.28

Source: Arlingclose Limited

Appendix D

P
age 46



Appendix E
Prudential Indicators 2022/23

The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the 
capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, 
and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice. To demonstrate that GCC has fulfilled these objectives, the 
Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored each 
year.

Balance Sheet Summary
The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  Estimates of GCC’s cumulative maximum external 
borrowing requirement for 2022/23 to 2024/25 are shown in the table below against 
the 2021/22 actual position:

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Closing CFR 457.553 504.332 531.362 546.399
Less:
Existing Profile of  External Borrowing 246.678 239.778 231.778 225.278

Other Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 156.701 148.827 151.575 147.242
Cumulative Maximum External 
Borrowing Requirement

54.174 115.726 148.009 173.879

GCCs strategy remains to maintain maximum control over its borrowing activities as 
well as flexibility on its loans portfolio.  The capital financing requirement is forecast to 
increase over the next three years as GCC invests in a number of approved capital 
schemes.

Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:
GCC is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line with statutory 
guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt 
approach the limit. The operational boundary is a management tool for in-year 
monitoring, and it is not significant if the operational boundary is breached on 
occasions due to variations in cash flow, and this is not counted as a compliance 
failure.  

The external debt to date for 2022/23 at its peak was £269.786 million well below the 
limit.  The headroom allows for the debt being held internally to be externalised if 
necessary, and for the approved financing via capital receipts to be covered should 
they not be received as expected.

Page 47



Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

22/08/2022 2022/23 2022/23

Actual Total Operational 
Boundary 

Total Authorised 
Limit 

£m £m £m
Split: Debt 269.786 381.173 401.173

Other Liabilities 148.827 148.827 148.827
418.613 530.000 550.000

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing: 
This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be replaced 
at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/22

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/22

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/22

Fixed Rate 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/22

% % LOBO* Market PWLB %
under 12 months 25 0 33.050 6.900 16.2% y
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 8.000 3.2% y
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 21.500 8.7% y
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 15.000 6.1% y
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 47.958 19.4% y
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 3.000 91.269 38.2% y
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 5.000 15.000 8.1% y

Compliance 
with Set 
Limits?

Note: LOBO’s are shown at their earliest maturity (call) date.  In reality these loans tend to be much 
longer term and cannot be redeemed early, unless called, without significant penalty.  Barclays 
LOBO’s are now classified as fixed loans and their maturity date is shown in the 20-30 and 30-
40 years categories.

Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 365 days:
This indicator allows GCC to manage the risk inherent in investments longer than 365 
days.  The limit for 2022/23 was set at £200 million, and in total GCC has £120.0 
million invested for over 365 days as follows:  

o £30 million invested in the CCLA Property Fund.  
o £25.0 million invested longer term with various local authorities, periods 

ranging from 1 to 2 years.
o £10 million invested in 2 ESG bond funds.  These funds are in line with 

the responsible investment strategy set by members to rule out new 
investment in companies exposed to fossil fuels.

o £25.0 million invested in multi asset funds.  Although funds could be 
matured earlier these funds are treated as long term investments.  

o £25 million invested in an equity funds.  Although funds could be matured 
earlier this fund is treated as a long term investment.  

o £5 million invested in a Real Estate Investment Fund.  This is a property-
backed investment that is funded by central government housing the 
most vulnerable people in society in supported living accommodation.

All of the long term funds have continued to pay consistent regular dividends 
throughout the Covid 19 pandemic.

Page 48



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 30th September 2022 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2022/23

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the Internal Audit activity progress in 
relation to the approved Internal Audit Plan 2022/23.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

i. Notes the progress against the Internal Audit Plan 
2022/23; and

ii. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment 
(comprising risk management, control and governance 
arrangements) as a result of the Internal Audit activity 
completed.

Officer(s) Contact: Piyush Fatania - Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) and 
Insurance Services  
Tel: 01452 328883
piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker - Director of Finance 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Alistair Rush - Interim Director of Finance
Tel: 01452 324103
alistair.rush@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Key Risks An effective Internal Audit service is a key part of the governance, 
risk management and internal control framework established by 
Gloucestershire County Council. Providing independent, objective 
assurance opinions as to the effectiveness of the Council’s 
management and control systems which underpin delivery of the 
Council’s objectives and effective use of its limited resources. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8

mailto:piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:alistair.rush@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



       

PROGRESS REPORT ON 
INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 

SEPTEMBER 2022

Page 51



1. Introduction

1.1 The Council’s Internal Audit service is provided by Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) under 
a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, Stroud District 
Council and Gloucester City Council.

1.2 ARA provide these services in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) which represent the “proper Internal Audit practices”. The 
standards define the way in which the Internal Audit service should be established and 
undertake its operations.

1.3 In accordance with the PSIAS, the Head of ARA is required to regularly provide 
progress reports on Internal Audit activity to management and the Audit and 
Governance Committee. This report summarises:

i. The progress against the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23; 

ii. The outcomes of the 2022-23 Internal Audit activity delivered up to August 2022; 
and

iii. Special investigations and counter fraud activity.

1.4 Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advice to the 
Council that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively. However, it 
should be emphasised that management are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining appropriate risk management processes, control systems (financial and 
non-financial) and governance arrangements.

2. Summary of 2022-23 Internal Audit work delivered up to August 2022

2.1 The following Assurance criteria are applied to Internal Audit reports:

i. Substantial assurance – all key controls are in place and working effectively with 
no exceptions or reservations. The Council has a low exposure to business risk;

ii. Acceptable assurance – all key controls are in place and working but there are 
some reservations in connection with the operational effectiveness of some key 
controls. The Council has a low to medium exposure to business risk;

iii. Limited assurance – not all key controls are in place or are working effectively. The 
Council has a medium to high exposure to business risk; and

iv. No assurance – no key controls are in place, or no key controls are working 
effectively. The Council has a high exposure to business risk. 

Page 52



2.2 Audit Activity: British Telecom (BT) Network Upgrade (Service Area: Corporate 
Resources)

i. Assurance level for this report: Substantial; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.3 Scope – The Council awarded a contract to BT for the supply of a new network 
combined with network services and works for up to 100 buildings. This audit reviewed 
whether the project to manage the BT contract had identified lessons learned. To 
enable actions to be taken forward and ensure that all works are completed in a timely 
manner.

2.4 Key Findings

i. The Council had started a lessons learned review with respect to the BT Network 
Upgrade Project, which continued during the course of this audit. The lessons 
learned have been documented in the Council’s Project ‘Changes Risks 
Assumptions Issues Dependencies (CRAID)’ Log;

ii. Discussion with the ICT Project Manager (Networks) confirmed that each lesson 
has been reviewed for re-use later in the project. It is notable that more than half of 
the lessons learned relate to 'Deployment' and 'Migration' and all of these have 
prompted positive changes in later activities in this project;

iii. The Council should ensure that the lessons learned themes are not only applied to 
the current BT Network Upgrade project but also to future projects.

2.5 Audit Activity: Carer Assessments (Service Area: Adult Services) 

i. Assurance level for this report: Acceptable; and

ii. Recommendations arising from this review have been prioritised as:

High Priority: 0
Medium Priority: 3
Low Priority: 0
Rejected: 0

2.6 Scope – This audit reviewed whether there is an assurance framework in place within 
the Council to ensure that Carers are signposted for an assessment. In addition, that 
Carer’s assessments are undertaken in line with the contract requirements.

2.7 Key Findings 

i. In March 2019 PeoplePlus Group Ltd were awarded the contract to run the 
Gloucestershire Carers Hub (GCH) and, as part of the contract, deliver carer 
assessments;

Page 53



ii. From reviewing PeoplePlus’s quarterly reports, Internal Audit established that in 
2022 Quarter 1, 28 individuals, organisations or teams referred 579 carers to 
GCH. Of these 28, 12 were teams within the Council referring 83 (14%) of the 579 
carers. Self-referrals were the most common type of referrals at 42%;

iii. Internal Audit reviewed the carer assessment paperwork completed by GCH and 
the carer, as well as the services and support offered. It met the assessment 
requirements of both the Care Act 2014 and the Children and Families Act 2014;

iv. The Council’s contract with PeoplePlus sets out six carer outcomes that must be 
met by the service. Internal Audit found that the GCH assessment and subsequent 
support and guidance provided to carers would address these outcomes;

v. Adult Social Care workers may identify a carer when meeting with a ‘cared for’ 
person to assess their needs. The carer and the help they provide should be 
documented in the ‘cared for’ persons LiquidLogic system. However, evidence that 
GCH has been discussed with the carer is not formally documented or referrals 
followed up to ensure that support has been initiated;

Risk: Reputational damage if carers are not supported in an appropriate and 
timely manner. Risk of hardship or injury to carer or cared for if carers are not 
supported in an appropriate and timely manner; 

Recommendation: To ensure transparency when referring carers to GCH, the 
Adult Social Care team should: Formally document when they refer carers to 
GCH; and Follow-up referrals to ensure that the carer is appropriately supported. 
Target date: December 2022.

vi. There is no written and published referral process documentation to support 
Council staff in understanding topics such as carer’s eligibility requirements, 
signposting or expectations for managing a referral. However, no issues in 
mishandling of referrals or subsequent assessments were identified by Internal 
Audit;

Risk: Non-compliance with statutory regulations if carers are not referred in an 
appropriate and timely manner. Remaining risk in line with bullet point v.; 

Recommendation: The Commissioning Team should implement a process guide 
to support Council staff understanding of topics such as: Carer’s eligibility 
requirements; How to signpost (to ensure a consistent approach); Expectations for 
managing a referral; and Verifying that an assessment took place, where 
appropriate. Target date: December 2022.

vii. The Council receive an extensive set of reports from the GCH each quarter which 
including referral and assessment data, performance figures, Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI) measures, and case studies. These reports are reviewed and 
discussed at monitoring meetings held by the Commissioning and Performance 
team. The quarterly KPI report includes 75 measures although only ten have been 
allocated target figures;

Page 54



Risk: Failure to effectively monitor contract performance. Reputational damage if 
contract performance is poor. Risk of hardship or injury to carer or cared for if 
services are untimely or of poor quality; 

Recommendation: Consideration should be given to review of the KPI’s and 
whether there would be a benefit from more targets to support effective 
monitoring. Target Date: October 2022.

2.8 Audit Activity: Change Management (ICT) (Service Area: Corporate Resources) 

i. Assurance level for this report: Acceptable; and

ii. Recommendations arising from this review have been prioritised as:

High Priority: 0
Medium Priority: 2
Low Priority: 1
Rejected: 0

2.9 Scope – This audit reviewed the procedures and controls in place with regard to IT 
Change Management.

2.10 Key Findings

i. An effective change management process has been established that follows 
Information Technology Infrastructure Library (ITIL) best practice principles. There 
is an ongoing process to identify the small number of unauthorised changes that 
are taking place outside of the change management process;

ii. The change management system was brought in-house in April 2021 and the 
initial manual system was replaced with the ServiceNow application in November 
2021. The change management process is applied to all known system changes. 
However, the process of identifying all systems where unauthorised changes may 
be taking place outside the established process has not been fully completed. The 
Council is planning to implement the Discovery functionality to address this issue 
as part of the ServiceNow development road map;

Risk: System changes may be made without being fully assessed, tested and 
documented;

Recommendation: All unauthorised changes should be identified, and processes 
implemented to ensure that all future changes are managed through ServiceNow. 
Target Date: April 2023. 

iii. A Change Management Policy has been documented to provide overarching 
guidance, but this has not been formally signed off. The Policy needs to be ratified 
by the Head of Service Management and the Assistant Director of Digital and ICT;

Risk: Management and operational decisions are not aligned with the Change 
Management Policy;

Page 55



Recommendation: Ratification of the Change Management Policy by the Head of 
Service Management and the Assistant Director Digital and ICT. Target date: 
October 2022. 

iv. Change Management procedures had not been fully developed prior to the 
implementation of the ServiceNow change management system. These, the draft 
Change Management Process document, are now being developed and 
documented as part of the service improvement plan;

Risk: The lack of formal procedures may result in staff not following a standard 
process;

Recommendation: All change management processes to be fully documented, 
and the procedures be disseminated to all relevant staff. Target date: December 
2022. 

v. Changes are categorised as standard, normal, emergency, and major changes. A 
Change Advisory Board (CAB) and an Emergency CAB have been established to 
assess and approve changes. These processes accord with ITIL best practice;

vi. The change management service performance is being monitored and monthly 
reports are produced. A suite of nine change management related key KPI’s are 
detailed within the draft Change Management Process document;

vii. Internal Audit review of a sample of changes identified that all had been assessed, 
approved, tested, and documented in accordance with the documented draft 
procedure.

2.11 Audit Activity: Client Affairs – Follow Up (Service Area: Adult Services) 

i. Assurance level for this report: Substantial; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.12 Scope – The Council’s Client Affairs team assist if an individual lacks capacity to 
manage their finances or assets and there is no other suitable individual to do so. The 
Council can apply to the Department for Works and Pensions to act as their benefit 
Appointee. Application to the Court of Protection can also be made to act as the 
Deputy for property and financial affairs. 

2.13 An audit of Client Affairs was undertaken by Internal Audit during 2020-21, focusing on 
the use of prepayment cards and Motability vehicles. The review resulted in a 
Satisfactory (Acceptable) Assurance level in meeting the control objectives for 
Prepayment Cards and Limited Assurance for Motability Vehicles. 

2.14 This follow-up audit provided an independent appraisal of the effectiveness of the 
implementation of the seven High Priority and four Medium Priority recommendations 
identified in the original Client Affairs audit.

Page 56



2.15 Key Findings

i. Audit review confirmed that all 11 original recommendations have been 
implemented;

ii. Separate procedure notes have been written specifically for prepayment cards. 
This includes those areas highlighted as requiring updating following the original 
audit;

iii. Evidence of action taken following review of prepayment card reports is included 
on the Money and Property Management System, CASPAR;

iv. The standard template letter used to request driver details (Motability 1) has now 
been updated to include a declaration form. This streamlines the process and 
helps to ensure that only approved drivers use the vehicles; 

v. Procedures have been updated to ensure that copy driving licences are not 
retained.

2.16 Audit Activity: Community Capacity Grant – Grant Certification (Service Area: 
Adult Services) 

i. Assurance level for this report: An assurance level was not provided for this 
activity; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.17 Scope – The purpose of the capital grant provided by the Department of Health and 
Social Care (DHSC) is to allow councils within England to invest in the running and 
maintenance of community social care. This enables councils to remunerate any 
expenditure lawfully incurred by them when delivering social care. The Council 
received Community Capacity (Capital) Grant funding of £1,360,488 in 2013-14 and 
£1,387,970 in 2014-15.

2.18 This audit reviewed whether the conditions of the grant determinations had been 
complied with during 2021-22.

2.19 Key Findings

i. Internal Audit review confirmed that expenditure during 2021-22 had been 
monitored by Strategic Finance and appropriate records maintained; 

ii. £523,154.84 and £1,044,129.45 Community Capacity grant was brought forward 
into 2021-22 from the allocations received in 2013-14 and 2014-15 respectively. 
Expenditure within 2021-22 cumulated to £164,006.74 and £25,184.66;

iii. Five invoices for expenditure totalling £149,170.40 (78.8%) were examined. All 
expenditure tested was in accordance with the grant conditions;

iv. Funding of £359,148.10 and £1,018,944.79 was carried forward into 2022-23;

Page 57



v. Internal Audit gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determinations had been met. Therefore, the declaration was signed and 
submitted to the DHSC.

2.20 Audit Activity: Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) – Grant Certification 
(Service Area: Adult Services) 

i. Assurance level for this report: An assurance level was not provided for this 
activity; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.21 Scope – The purpose of the Test and Trace COMF is to provide support to councils in 
England towards expenditure incurred in the mitigation against and management of 
local outbreaks of Covid-19. £17,900,107.11 of grant funding was allocated to the 
Council during 2020-21 and 2021-22. 

2.22 This audit reviewed whether the conditions of the grant determinations had been 
complied with. The relevant grant determination numbers are: 31/5244, 31/5304, 
31/5341, 31/5411, 31/5456 and 31/5518.

2.23 Key Findings 

i. The records supplied by Strategic Finance confirmed that as of March 2022 
£10,261,137.09 of applicable expenditure had been incurred against the Test and 
Trace COMF;

ii. Internal Audit selected and reviewed 16 lines of the expenditure with a combined 
total of £416,457.40 across 2020-21 and 2021-22. Internal Audit was able to 
confirm that the expenditure was in accordance with the relevant grant conditions; 

iii. £200,000 had been allocated and paid to each of the six district councils within 
Gloucestershire during 2020-21. All six district councils provided evidence that 
their allocation of £200,000 had either been spent in full or will be fully exhausted 
in 2022-23;

iv. Internal Audit can confirm the remainder of the COMF funding, £7,638,970.02, has 
been carried forward into the current financial year 2022-23; 

v. Based on discussions with officers and review of records maintained by the 
Council, Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the 
grant determinations have been fulfilled. Therefore, the declaration have been 
signed and submitted to the DHSC. 

Page 58



2.24 Audit Activity: Covid Test and Trace Support Scheme – Grant Certification 
(Service Area: Adult Services) 

i. Assurance level for this report: An assurance level was not provided for this 
activity; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.25 Scope – The purpose of the grant was to provide support to councils in England 
towards expenditure lawfully incurred in the mitigation against and management of 
local outbreaks of Covid-19. £2,221,773 of grant funding was allocated to the Council 
under grant determination 31/5075, £1,425,694 of which had been carried forward into 
2021-22. 

2.26 This audit reviewed whether the conditions of the grant determination had been 
complied with.

2.27 Key Findings

i. The expenditure for the Covid Test and Trace Support Scheme Grant is monitored 
by the Principal Finance Officer. The records examined confirmed that 
£802,916.75 of the grant was expended during 2021-22; 

ii. Internal Audit selected and reviewed 7% of the funding spent on Intelligence 
Databases totalling £59,952.36. Internal Audit can confirm that the expenditure 
was in accordance with the relevant grant conditions;

iii. £726,684.06 of the expenditure was recorded against staff salaries and 
£15,614.71 was recorded against on call or out of hours. Internal Audit reviewed 
this expenditure and are content it meets the requirements of the grant 
determination;

iv. £300,000 had been allocated and split equally between the six Gloucestershire 
district councils during 2020-21. In line with a required action from the 2020-21 
grant review, all six districts provided evidence that their allocation of £50,000 had 
subsequently been spent in full;

v. Internal Audit can confirm the remainder of the Covid Test and Trace Support 
Scheme Funding, £622,777.53, has been carried forward into the current financial 
year 2022-23; and

vi. Internal Audit can confirm that the conditions of the grant determination 
No.31/5075 for 2021-22 had been fulfilled. As such the Covid Test and Trace 
Support Scheme grant declaration was signed and submitted to the Department of 
Health and Social Care.

Page 59



2.28 Audit Activity: Direct Payments – Follow Up (Service Area: Children’s Services)

i. Assurance level for this report: Limited; and

ii. Recommendations arising from this review have been prioritised as:

High Priority: 3
Medium Priority: 2
Low Priority: 0
Rejected: 0

2.29 Scope – To provide an independent appraisal of the effectiveness of the 
implementation of the four High Priority and two Medium Priority recommendations 
from the original Direct Payments audit.

2.30 Key Findings

i. A total of six recommendations were made in the original report. At the point of 
Internal Audit follow-up, one recommendation had been fully implemented and the 
remainder partially implemented;

ii. Management provided well-considered and detailed responses to the original audit 
recommendations. However, the stated intentions had not all been implemented in 
full;

iii. The recommended updates to process documents, the Service Level Agreement 
and flowcharts had been discussed and agreed by management.  However, they 
had not been finalised and published;

Risk: Needs of Service Users not being met. Lapses in the early identification of 
any potential fraud or irregularity and recovery of payments. Reputational damage 
to the Council; 

Recommendation: The Direct Payment process documents and flowchart should 
be updated for the management of both one-off and ongoing Direct Payments. 
September 2022.

iv. The status of the payment cards is not regularly reviewed for appropriateness;

Risk: Needs of Service Users not being met. Lapses in the early identification of 
any potential fraud or irregularity and recovery of payments. Reputational damage 
to the Council; 

Recommendation: Management should regularly review the status of all payment 
cards and take action as appropriate. September 2022.

v. Internal Audit sample testing identified four payment cards with an ‘issued not 
active’ status that should have been closed and the balance reclaimed;

Page 60



Risk: Needs of Service Users not being met. Lapses in the early identification of 
any potential fraud or irregularity and recovery of payments. Reputational damage 
to the Council; 

Recommendation: Management should close the four payment cards and 
reclaim the balances as identified by Internal Audit testing. September 2022.

vi. Direct Payment Service Users were not all being reviewed annually to ensure that 
issues and support for payment card use were identified;

Risk: Needs of Service Users not being met. Lapses in the early identification of 
any potential fraud or irregularity and recovery of payments. Reputational damage 
to the Council; 

Recommendations:

a. The current monitoring spreadsheet should be reviewed and updated to ensure 
that review dates are clear. This will support the team to ensure that all Direct 
Payment Service Users receive a review every 12 months and to schedule 
outstanding reviews accordingly.

b. All Direct Payment Service Users that have not had a review in the last 12 
months should be identified and a monitoring review should take place 
immediately.

c. Management should have oversight of each Direct Payment Service User’s 12-
month review and escalate when a review has not taken place.

d. A review checklist should be implemented to ensure that all reviews are 
standardised. This should include a check that ‘spend’ is compared with the 
agreed services (to meet the Service User’s assessed needs) documented in 
the Direct Payment Agreement.  September 2022.

vii. Quarterly management meetings take place to discuss a broad range of issues in 
relation to Direct Payments.  A robust reporting procedure to support this 
management oversight function had not been fully implemented.

2.31 Audit Activity: Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant – Grant Certification (Service 
Area: Community Safety)

i. Assurance level for this report: An assurance level was not provided for this 
activity; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.32 Scope – The purpose of the capital grant is to support the operation of Fire Authorities 
and remunerate any expenditure lawfully incurred by them. £822,361 of funding was 
originally allocated to the Council in 2014-15 under grant determination 31/2322. 
£70,443.87 of the funding had been brought forward to 2021-22. 

Page 61



2.33 This audit reviewed whether the conditions of the grant determination had been 
complied with.

2.34 Key Findings

i. The expenditure for the Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant is monitored by the 
Principal Finance Officer and appropriate records maintained. Expenditure for the 
financial year was confirmed as £51,790.09. Internal Audit tested £45,659.79 (88% 
of the total). All expenditure was in accordance with the grant determination;

ii. Internal Audit confirmed the £18,653.78 carry forward of the Fire and Rescue 
Authorities Grant into 2022-23; 

iii. Internal Audit confirmed that the conditions of the grant determination 31/2322 for 
2021-22 had been fulfilled. As such the grant declaration was signed and 
submitted to the Home Office.

2.35 Audit Activity: Growth Hub – Grant Certification (Service Area: Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure)

i. Assurance level for this report: An assurance level was not provided for this 
activity; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.36 Scope – The Council is the Accountable Body for Gloucestershire First Local 
Enterprise Partnership (GFirstLEP). Growth Hub funding is received by the Council on 
behalf of GFirstLEP from the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS). A requirement of this funding is for an accountant’s report to be prepared by a 
professionally qualified member of the Accountable Body’s own Audit team and 
submitted to the BEIS. The purpose of this review was to satisfy the BEIS requirement.

2.37 Key Findings

i. The review confirmed that the GFirstLEP project expenditure for 2021-22 totalled 
£542,319.10. The expenditure incurred in excess of the £542,000 grant was in 
regard to salary costs and covered directly by GFirstLEP; 

ii. Internal Audit tested £76,973.45 of grant funding, a total of 14% of the total 
expenditure. It was confirmed that the sampled expenditure met the grant 
conditions;

iii. Internal Audit also confirmed that no other grants from a public body were received 
by the Accountable Body in respect of the project;

iv. The ‘Growth Hub Funding to LEP in 2021-22’ Accountant’s Report was submitted 
to the BEIS, prior to the set deadline. 

Page 62



2.38 Audit Activity: Investment in Order of Saint (St.) John (OSJ) Care Homes 
(Service Area: Adult Services) 

i. Assurance level for this report: Acceptable; and

ii. Recommendations arising from this review have been prioritised as:

High Priority: 0
Medium Priority: 1
Low Priority: 0
Rejected: 0

2.39 Scope – Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) set aside £5.12m for the purpose of 
refurbishment works across nine care homes owned by the Council. These care 
homes are run by the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP), a joint venture 
between OSJ and the Bedford Pilgrim Housing Programme on behalf of GCC. 

This audit reviewed the procedures and controls in place regarding governance 
arrangements for the refurbishment works at these care homes. 

2.40 Key Findings 

i. Internal Audit confirmed that the redevelopment of the care homes was being 
overseen by a lead officer, the Head of Delivery Services for Asset Management 
Property Services (AMPS). The refurbishment works were being managed by a 
Project Manager from within AMPS;

ii. Internal Audit were provided with minutes of meetings held monthly in the lead up 
to the start of the project. These minutes demonstrated that decisions that needed 
to be made by the partners were discussed within the meetings; 

iii. Internal Audit had not been able to fully test evidence to support that works have 
been undertaken in line with management decision making. This was due to the 
refurbishment works still being in their infancy with minimal spend incurred against 
the project at the point of the audit; 

iv. It was identified that the costing plan for one of the care homes had increased 
considerably from the initially expected costs in the region of £450,000 up to costs 
of around £1m. Discussions with the lead officer advised that this was due to 
increases in costs of materials post Covid-19 as well as, more recently, rising 
inflation. The meeting minutes identified that as a result of the cost plan 
demonstrating an overspend, lead officers had agreed actions to reduce the cost 
of the project; 

Risk: Overspend on project causing budgetary pressures. Potentially resulting in 
insufficient funding to complete refurbishments on remaining care homes. 
Reputational damage to GCC for perceived poor management of funding. Care 
homes do not meet required standards, therefore impacting the needs of 
residents; and

Page 63



Recommendation: AMPS should identify what the expected costs of 
refurbishment for the remaining care homes will be, through the creation of cost 
plans for the homes. This is to provide management with an overview of the 
expected costs compared to the available budget for the whole project. This will 
then help to better determine if there is an overall budget shortfall for the 
refurbishment works required. The overall expected cost will then provide 
management with a clear picture of the savings that are required to be made to 
mitigate against an overall budget overspent.

2.41 Audit Activity: No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) (Service Area: Children’s 
Services)

i. Assurance level for this report: Acceptable; and

ii. Recommendations arising from this review have been prioritised as:

High Priority: 0
Medium Priority: 4
Low Priority: 0
Rejected: 0

2.42 Scope – NRPF is an immigration condition restricting access to public funds, including 
many mainstream benefits such as welfare and housing. As a result, families and 
individuals may have a right to financial support from social services. This would be to 
meet the assessed needs of a child (under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989) or 
because of complex health needs (under the Care Act 2014). In these cases, the 
Council has a duty to support the accommodation and subsistence costs of residents 
with NRPF. 

2.43 The audit reviewed the effectiveness of the NRPF processes following the 
appointment of an NRPF Case Lead in November 2020.  This included reviewing how 
NRPF expenditure was controlled, the interaction between the NRPF Case Lead and 
Social Care, and the recording and monitoring of NRPF cases.

2.44 Key Findings

i. There is no specific budget for NRPF and the expenditure is included in the 
Section 17 cost centres for each locality in Gloucestershire;

ii. The NRPF Case Lead assesses the financial status of the applicant at the 
beginning of each case and repeats this intermittently as required. This ensures 
that requests for Section 17 funding are supported by accurate costs.  A Resource 
Panel provides a strategic approval process for Section 17 requests across the 
county.  The NRPF element of Section 17 funding is recorded using a spreadsheet 
maintained by Children’s Commissioning. It is also held on the NRPF Connect 
system which is the platform for all NRPF costs; 

iii. The NRPF Case Lead has had a significant impact on closing historic NRPF 
cases.  A review of a sample of these cases identified a number where the Council 
had been providing subsistence and housing funding for between 12 and 62 

Page 64



months. In a number of these cases, the NRPF Case Lead was able to support the 
applicant with their immigration case. These actions enabled the applicants to 
access public funds such as Universal Credit. This removed the requirement for 
the Council to continue to provide Section 17 support within two to three months of 
taking on the cases;

iv. A review of a sample of 11 cases that had been resolved identified that their NRPF 
payments had equated to £15,315.11 per month. This would equate to potential 
savings of £183,781.36 annually if all 11 cases had continued for a further 12-
month period without resolution;

v. There is a limit to the number of cases that the NRPF Case Lead can manage 
concurrently and consecutively. However, the length of time that the NRPF Case 
Lead is expected to work on a case has not been determined;

Risk: The number of NRPF cases that can be processed is limited;

Recommendation: The resolution point for the NRPF Case Lead when working 
on cases should be determined and implemented.

vi. Discussions with Social Workers participating in this review identified that 
knowledge of NRPF was limited and this has contributed to delays in cases being 
resolved.  They confirmed that the specialist knowledge brought by the NRPF 
Case Lead was invaluable.  They all advised that NRPF training would be 
beneficial, possibly through the recently established Social Work Academy;

Risk: Failure to operate in a consistent manner leading to unsatisfactory outcomes 
for clients or unnecessary costs to the Council;

Recommendation:  NRPF training should be provided to all Social Workers.

vii. NRPF is usually one element of a more complicated case.  The introduction of an 
NRPF flag on LiquidLogic (Children’s case management system) would enable 
easier identification of NRPF cases. This would, in turn, allow greater visibility 
within this area;

Risk: Inability to easily identify the number of NRPF cases;

Recommendation:  An NRPF case flag should be added to LiquidLogic.

viii. A review of a sample of cases identified that the highest-value funding requests 
were for accommodation. The applicants in many of these cases were housed in 
private rental properties as there is a shortage of available social housing 
accommodation;

Risk: Budget overspend; 

Recommendation: Management should explore the opportunities for partnering 
with social housing providers to enable access to social housing properties for 
NRPF clients.

Page 65



2.45 Audit Activity: Universal Drug Treatment – Grant Review (Service Area: Adult 
Services)

i. Assurance Level for this report: Acceptable; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.46 Scope – This was an addition to the 2022-23 Audit Plan. Following request for Internal 
Audit to provide assurance to enable the declaration on the Universal Drug Treatment 
(UDT) Statement of Grant Usage (SOGU) to be signed. 

2.47 The aim of the audit was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the 
expenditure was in accordance with grant conditions as detailed in the Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU).

2.48 Key Findings

i. £415,000 of Universal Drug Treatment (UDT) funding was allocated to the Council 
to be spent during the period April 2021 until June 2022;

ii. The grant was paid to Change Grow Learn (CGL) to provide the required services. 
Payments were made to CGL once they provided the Council with details of UDT 
grant expenditure. The records supplied by the Principal Finance Officer confirmed 
that a total of £415,000 was received by the Council during 2021-22. CGL stated 
that the total expenditure for the UDT grant project was £413,795;

iii. CGL provided an expenditure breakdown from their accounting system. 
Supporting evidence was requested for a sample of expenditure totalling 
£125,970.98. Satisfactory evidence and explanations were provided;

iv. £1,205 of 2021-22 funding has not been spent. The 2022-23 grant funding to the 
Council will be reduced for this amount;

v. Internal Audit gained Acceptable Assurance that the conditions of the grant have 
been met. Therefore, the SOGU was signed and submitted to the Office of Health, 
Improvement and Disparities. 

2.49 Audit Activity: Value Added Tax (VAT) Registration Number – Data Analytics 
(Service Area: Council Wide)

i. Assurance level for this report: An assurance level was not provided for this 
activity; and

ii. No recommendations arose from this review.

2.50 Scope – To validate Vendor’s VAT numbers held on SAP (GCC’s financial 
management system). Verification included identifying non-standard VAT numbers 
such as those with an inappropriate length or invalid number combinations with the 
aim to identify potential VAT fraud.

Page 66



2.51 Key Findings 

i. Internal Audit reviewed and tested 23,419 current vendors and found 69 do not 
have a VAT number that is nine digits long. This is likely to be a historic human 
error when entering the VAT number on SAP. Vendor details have been provided 
to the Income Payments and Shopping Team Manager for further investigation;

ii. A UK VAT number is not a ‘random’ set of numbers, there are two modulus 
formulae that can be used to identify whether the VAT number is valid or not. 57 
failed the modulus formulae checks. This could be either human error when 
entering the VAT number on SAP or a vendor providing a fraudulent VAT number. 
Vendor details have been provided to the Income Payments and Shopping Team 
Manager for further investigation;

iii. To analyse if a vendor had misappropriated another company’s VAT number, 
Internal Audit reviewed all vendors that shared a VAT number but where the 
vendors had different postcodes. Internal Audit identified eight that were unusual 
and shared the data with the Counter Fraud Team for investigation. The Counter 
Fraud Team did not find any impropriety with the eight VAT numbers;

iv. Three vendors did not have a “GB” suffix at the start of their VAT number and 
these were vendors with an address in Ireland. Internal Audit discussed the cases 
with the Income Payments and Shopping Team Manager who is investigating 
whether this is acceptable following Brexit; 

v. 15,497 do not have a VAT number. This may be because they are not VAT 
registered. Due to the high number of vendors, Internal Audit will provide a list 
upon request for the Income Payments and Shopping Team Manager for review.

vi. No formal recommendations were raised as part of the VAT data analytics review. 
The Income Payments and Shopping Team Manager has agreed to take the 
above findings forward and progress the review and correction of VAT numbers on 
SAP.

Page 67



3. Counter Fraud Update – Summary of Counter Fraud Activities

Current Year Counter Fraud Activities

3.1 To date in 2022-23 there have been three new irregularities referred to the ARA  
 Counter Fraud Team (CFT). Of which, two have been closed:

i. One referral was linked to the use of Council vehicles. Although the concerns 
raised had occurred in two different directorates, the issues were similar. In both 
cases the issues were linked to fines and parking tickets. Staff using a Council 
lease or owned car are responsible for fines incurred during the period they are 
using the vehicle. In one case the vehicle usage logs had not been maintained and 
this had resulted in difficulties in identifying the driver. In the second case the line 
manager queried the quality of the photographic evidence and the need to have 
the fine sent to the driver’s home address. 

Although there is no evidence of fraud or irregularity in either of these cases, they 
do demonstrate potential internal control failures that need to be addressed. The 
risk themes have been shared with the Internal Audit team for consideration of a 
vehicle use compliance audit within the 2023-24 Internal Audit Plan risk 
assessment.

ii. The second closed case was in respect of the Government Workforce Recruitment 
and Retention Funding (WRRF) phases one and two. An anonymous message on 
the whistle blow line alleged that a provider of domiciliary care had claimed the 
grant funding but had not passed on the funding to eligible staff. Following a 
meeting with CFT, the provider advised the Council that they would be returning 
the full amount of the grant received. On 25th July 2022, the Council raised an 
invoice against the provider for £13,562.72.

There was a second concern raised in respect of this provider. It was alleged that 
the provider was employing international staff and that these employees did not 
hold valid driving licences. The CFT was unable to find any information to support 
this allegation. No further action will be taken.

3.2 The outcomes of the remaining case will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee on its completion.

3.3 It should be noted that many of the cases referred to the CFT involve intricate detail 
and Police referral. This invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be 
classed as closed.

3.4 The CFT continues to provide wider counter fraud support and guidance to Council 
staff where required. 

Previous years’ referrals closed case

3.5 In addition, the CFT has continued to work on three cases carried forward from prior 
year. Of these, one case has been closed:

Page 68



i. The CFT was contacted by Her Majesty’s Revenues and Custom (HMRC) 
requesting assistance with one of their cases. They were investigating a 
disqualified director who was believed to be acting as a hotelier in Gloucestershire. 
HMRC were requested to submit a Data Protection Act (DPA 2018) request for the 
information. On receipt of the DPA 2018 request, the Council was able to provide 
information required, including witness statements, to support the case. Unless 
further information is required by the HMRC, it is unlikely that the Council will 
receive any updates on the outcomes of this case.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

3.6 Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The data collections for the 2022-23 exercise are 
due to be uploaded to the Cabinet Office from 7th October 2022. It is anticipated that 
the data matching reports will be released for review from January 2023 onwards.

3.7 The full NFI timetable can be found using the link available on GOV.UK – 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-fraud-initiative-timetables.

3.8 Examples of data sets include housing, insurance, payroll, creditors, council tax, 
electoral register and licences for market traders or operators, taxi drivers and 
personal licences to supply alcohol. 

3.9 Not all matches are always investigated but where possible all recommended matches 
are reviewed by either Internal Audit or the appropriate service area within the Council. 
To date, the review of the 2021-22 data matching exercise has identified errors leading 
to the recovery of £12,891.06 from a review of the Pension-to-Pension Gratuity to 
DWP Deceased matches.

National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN)

3.10 NAFN is a public sector organisation which exists to support its members in protecting 
the public interest. It is one of the largest shared services in the country managed by, 
and for the benefit of its members. NAFN is currently hosted by Tameside Metropolitan 
Borough Council.

3.11 Membership is open to any organisation that has responsibility for managing public 
funds or assets.  Use of NAFN services is voluntary, which ensures delivery of value 
for money. Currently, almost 90% of councils are members and there are a rapidly 
growing number of affiliated wider public sector bodies including social housing 
providers.

3.12 Many potential attempted frauds are intercepted. This is due to a combination of local 
knowledge together with credible national communications, including those from the 
NAFN. Fraud risk areas are swiftly cascaded to teams by the CFT for the purpose of 
prevention, for example national targeted frauds.

Page 69

https://www.nfi.gov.uk/r/34AA62E5BC1349DFA38F24BE5DCADC53
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-fraud-initiative-timetables


International Fraud Awareness Week (IFAW)

3.13 This year as in previous years, Gloucestershire County Council is signed up as a 
supporter of IFAW.

3.14 The week runs from 13th to 19th November 2022. The aim of the week is to raise 
awareness of different types of frauds and scams and how to prevent the Council 
falling victim to them. More information will be issued nearer the time.

Page 70

https://www.fraudweek.com/what-you-can-do


 Gloucestershire County Council 2022-23 Internal Audit Progress Report - September 2022

Ref

Plan 

Quarter

Actual 

Quarter Dept. Audit Comment Risk Status Now

Status Last 

Quarter Comments

1 C/F Adult Services Carer Assessments Assurance Medium Final Report Issued Carry forward from 2021-22.

2 C/F Adult Services Client Affairs - Follow Up Assurance High Final Report Issued Carry forward from 2021-22.

3 C/F Adult Services Direct Payments - Investigation Follow Up Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

4 C/F Adult Services Out of County-cross charging for sexual health Assurance Medium Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

5 C/F Adult Services Section 117 Placements Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. ARA resource 

turnover required the audit to be placed on 

hold in Quarter 1. Activity to be concluded in 

Quarter 3.

6 C/F Children's Services Additional Home to School Transport Grant Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

7 C/F Children's Services Direct Payments - Follow Up Assurance Medium Final Report Issued Carry forward from 2021-22.

8 C/F Children's Services Local Authority Maintained Schools (LAMS) 2021-22 Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Main 

findings reported to July 22 Committee, 

including the outcomes from 13 2021-22 

LAMS audits. Three additional 2021-22 LAMS 

audits have now been concluded. No 

additional risk or observation themes have 

been identified. 

9 C/F Children's Services No Recourse to Public Funds Assurance Medium Final Report Issued Carry forward from 2021-22.

10 C/F Children's Services PACE Protocol Assurance Medium Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Audit debrief with 

senior management delayed due to leave. 

Report to be finalised in September 22. 

11 C/F Children's Services Panel Arrangements Assurance Medium Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Audit delivered 

across a number of Quarters to enable ARA 

attendance at the range of panel meetings. 

Activity to be concluded in Quarter 3.

12 C/F Children's Services School Admissions Assurance Medium Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

13 C/F Children's Services

Section 17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds 

(NRPF) - Follow Up Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

14 C/F Children's Services

Transition from Children’s to Adults Services including 

Costs Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. ARA activity 

delivered across a number of quarters due to 

the scope breadth. Activity to be concluded in 

Quarter 3.

15 C/F Children's Services Troubled Families Two Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

16 C/F Children's Services

Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support 

(Commissioning) Assurance High Draft Report Issued

Carry forward from 2021-22. ARA awaiting 

senior management response. Escalation 

applied and lead Director aware of position.

17 C/F Children's Services

Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support 

(Fostering) - Follow Up Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

18 C/F Children's Services Youth Offending Service Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Delays 

experienced in receipt of information. Target 

for conclusion in early Quarter 3.

19 C/F Corporate Resources BT Network Upgrade Assurance High Final Report Issued Carry forward from 2021-22.

20 C/F Corporate Resources Change Management Assurance High Final Report Issued Carry forward from 2021-22.

21 C/F Corporate Resources End User Device Management Assurance High Draft Report Issued

Carry forward from 2021-22. Draft report 

issued in August 22.

22 C/F Corporate Resources GCC usage of CCTV in compliance with legislation Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

23 C/F Corporate Resources ITDR Follow Up (second) Assurance High Draft Report Issued

Draft report issued in June 22. ARA engaging 

with senior management to finalise report. 

Assistant Director, Digital and ICT to provide 

management response in September 22.

Completion of 2021-22 Work

P
age 71



 Gloucestershire County Council 2022-23 Internal Audit Progress Report - September 2022

Ref

Plan 

Quarter

Actual 

Quarter Dept. Audit Comment Risk Status Now

Status Last 

Quarter Comments

24 C/F Corporate Resources JADU eforms Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Central 

(Corporate Resources) ICT internal audit work 

has been prioritised in Quarter 1. Draft report 

to be issued in September 22. 

25 C/F Corporate Resources Lost Fees and Charges 2021-22 Assurance Medium Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Complex grant 

return. Increased levels of testing required to 

enable activity conclusion. Activity to be 

concluded in Quarter 3.

26 C/F Corporate Resources PSN accreditation Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Target for 

conclusion in early Quarter 3.

27 C/F Council Wide Cyber Security Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Target for 

conclusion in early Quarter 3.

28 C/F Council Wide VAT Registration Number Assurance High Final Report Issued Carry forward from 2021-22.

29 C/F

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure Library Management System Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Central 

(Corporate Resources) ICT internal audit work 

has been prioritised in Quarter 1. Target for 

conclusion in early Quarter 3.

30 C/F

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for 

Social Care Users Limited Assurance Follow Up Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

31 C/F

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme 

(WCTIS) Assurance High Field Work Started

Carry forward from 2021-22. Complex capital 

project review with ARA activity delivery 

across a number of quarters. Target for 

conclusion in early Quarter 3.

32 C/F Pensions Ghost Pensioners Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

33 C/F Pensions Hyman’s Employer Asset Tracking (HEAT) process Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

34 C/F Pensions Pensions Information and Cyber Security Assurance High Final Report Issued

Delivered across 2021-22 year end. Reported 

to July 22 Committee. 

35 1 1 Adults Amenity Funds Assurance High Draft Report Issued

36 1 1 Adults Community Capacity Grant - Grant Certification Assurance High Final Report Issued Grant certification. 

37 1 1 Adults

Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) - Grant 

Certification Assurance High Final Report Issued Grant certification. 

38 1 1 Adults Covid Test and Trace Support Scheme - Grant Certification Assurance High Final Report Issued Grant certification. 

39 1 1 Adults Investment in Order of St. John (OSJ) Homes Assurance High Final Report Issued Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

40 1 3 Adults

Small value contracts within Prevention, Wellbeing and 

Communities (PWC) Consultancy Consultancy Planned

In year timing update. Audit agreed for 

Quarter 3 delivery. 

41 1 3 Adults Use of LiquidLogic Assurance Medium Planned

In year timing update. Audit agreed for 

Quarter 3 delivery. 

42 1 1 Children’s Free Places for eligible two-year-olds Assurance Medium Field Work Started

43 1 3 Children’s High Needs Provision Capital Allocation - Grant Certification Assurance High Planned

Grant certification. ARA engaging with the 

Department of Education to obtain updated 

certification deadlines. 

44 1 2 Children’s Information Requests into Children’s Services Assurance High Field Work Started Quarter 2 start agreed by service. 

45 1 1 Children’s Young Carers’ Assessments Assurance Medium Field Work Started

46 1 1 Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant - Grant Certification Assurance High Final Report Issued Grant certification. 

47 1 2 Corporate Resources Estate Hazard Management Compliance Assurance High Field Work Started Quarter 2 start agreed by service. 

48 1 1

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Energy from Waste Assurance Medium Field Work Started

49 1 1

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Growth Hub - Grant Certification Assurance High Final Report Issued Grant certification. 

50 1 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) Assurance High Field Work Started

Planning initiated in June 22. Terms of 

reference issued July 22. 

51 2 Adults Care Homes, Nursing Homes or Home Care Assurance High Planned

52 2 2 Adults Community Testing Funding - Grant Certification Assurance High Field Work Started Grant certification. 

Work Planned for Quarter 2 2022-23

Work Planned for Quarter 1 2022-23

P
age 72



 Gloucestershire County Council 2022-23 Internal Audit Progress Report - September 2022

Ref

Plan 

Quarter

Actual 

Quarter Dept. Audit Comment Risk Status Now

Status Last 

Quarter Comments

53 2 2 Adults Disabled Facilities Grant - Grant Certification Assurance High Field Work Started Grant certification. 

54 2 Adults Financial Assessments Assurance High Planned

55 2 Adults Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) Assurance High Planned

56 NEW 2 Adults Universal Drug Treatment - Grant Review Assurance High Final Report Issued New activity. Grant Review. 

57 NEW 2 Children’s Financial Risk of Academisation of Schools Assurance High Field Work Started

New activity. Split into two tranches of work. 

This is tranche one.

58 2 2 Children’s Foster Carer Bandings and Payments Assurance Medium Field Work Started Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

59 2 Children’s Housing funded by Section 17 Assurance Medium Planned

60 2 Children’s Supporting Families - Claim One Assurance Medium Planned Grant review. 

61 2 2 Children’s Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers Assurance Medium Field Work Started

62 2 3 Community Safety Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue (GFRS) Expenses Assurance High Planned

In year timing update. Audit agreed for 

Quarter 3 delivery. 

63 NEW 2 Community Safety GFRS Pensions Consultancy Consultancy Final Report Issued

New activity. Pensions assurance 

consultancy advice provided to the GFRS 

Chief Fire Officer and Finance Business 

Partner. Summary paragraph not required. 

64 2 4 Corporate Resources Annual Governance Statement (AGS) Assurance Medium Planned

In year timing update. Audit agreed for 

Quarter 4 delivery. 

65 2 Corporate Resources Data Analytics Assurance High Planned Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

66 2 Corporate Resources Major IT Incident Management Assurance High Planned

67 2 Corporate Resources Office 365 Lessons Learned Assurance Medium Planned

68 2 Corporate Resources Supplier Management Assurance High Planned Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

69 2 Corporate Resources Use of Petty Cash and Imprest Bank Accounts Assurance Medium Planned

70 2 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure A46 Coopers Hill - Grant Certification Assurance High Field Work Started Grant certification. 

71 2 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Additional Highways Maintenance - Grant Certification Assurance High Field Work Started Grant certification. 

72 2 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced Grant - Grant Certification Assurance High Field Work Started Grant certification. 

73 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure

Highways – Value for Money Review of a Key Supplier 

Contract Assurance High Planned

74 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Local Transport Capital Funding - Grant Certification Assurance High Planned Grant certification. 

75 2 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure

Local Transport Capital Funding - Traffic Signals - Grant 

Certification Assurance High Field Work Started Grant certification. 

76 2 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Pothole and Challenge Fund - Grant Certification Assurance High Field Work Started Grant certification. 

77 2

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure

Traffic Signals Asset Management and Replacement – 

Follow Up Assurance High Planned

78 3 Adults Deaths and Discharges Assurance High Planned

79 3 Adults Direct Payments Assurance High Planned

80 3 Adults Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) Assurance High Planned

81 3 Children’s Discretionary Payments to Foster Carers – Follow Up Assurance High Planned Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

82 3 Children’s Education Quality Assurance Framework Consultancy Consultancy Planned Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

83 3 Children’s Section 17 – Follow Up Assurance High Planned

84 3 Corporate Resources Asset Valuation Process Assurance High Planned

85 3 Corporate Resources Business Service Centre (BSC) Payroll Processes Assurance High Planned

86 3 Corporate Resources Legal Value for Money Review Consultancy Consultancy Planned

87 3 Corporate Resources New Contract Management System Assurance High Planned

88 3 Corporate Resources Operation of the Project Management Office (PMO) Assurance Medium Planned Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

89 3 Corporate Resources Risk Management – Follow Up Assurance High Planned

90 3 Corporate Resources The Health and Safety Risk Assessment Process Assurance Medium Planned

91 3 Council Wide Technology Procurement Assurance High Planned Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

92 3

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Decarbonised Transport Strategy Assurance High Planned

93 3

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Financial Controls over Waste Recycling and Trading Assurance High Planned

Work Planned for Quarter 3 2022-23

P
age 73



 Gloucestershire County Council 2022-23 Internal Audit Progress Report - September 2022

Ref

Plan 

Quarter

Actual 

Quarter Dept. Audit Comment Risk Status Now

Status Last 

Quarter Comments

94 3

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure M5 Junction 10 Project Cost Reporting Assurance High Planned Deferred from 2021-22 Plan.

95 3

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Road Safety Improvements Assurance High Planned

96 4 Adults Adult Social Care Debt Collection Assurance High Planned

Deferred from 2021-22 Plan. This activity is 

owned by both Adults and Corporate 

Resources. 

97 4 Adults Adult Weight Management - Grant Certification Assurance High Planned Grant certification. 

98 4 Adults Electronic Call Monitoring Assurance High Planned

99 4 Children’s Due Diligence Quality Assurance Reviews Assurance Medium Planned

100 NEW Children’s Financial Risk of Academisation of Schools Assurance High Planned

New activity. Split into two tranches of work. 

This is tranche two.

101 4 Corporate Resources Direct Award Single Source Contract Authorisation Assurance High Planned

102 4 Corporate Resources Revised Children’s Improvement Programme (CIP) Assurance Medium Planned

103 4 Corporate Resources Service Delivery Efficiency - ICT Assurance High Planned

104 4

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Financial Procedures in Libraries Assurance High Planned

105 4

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Supporting Families - Claim Two Assurance Medium Planned Grant review. 

106 1 to 4 Children’s Local Authority Maintained Schools (LAMS) 2022-23 Assurance High Ongoing

LAMS planning and risk assessment 

completed. First tranche of LAMS audits to be 

completed in the 2022-23 Autumn term. 

107 Community Safety

Community Safety Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 

Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 

Improvement Plan Assurance High Planned

108 1 to 4 Counter Fraud Counter Fraud Assurance High Ongoing

Counter Fraud activity progresses throughout 

the year and is reported to each Committee.

109 1 to 4

Economy, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Fleet Management Project Assurance Medium Ongoing

ARA attendance and input through Fleet 

Project Steering Board in year.

Key: The audit has started or will start on time.

The audit commencement has been or is likely to be delayed

The audit that is not likely to be undertaken in this financial year

C/F Carry Forward activity from prior year. Activity in progress on 31st March 2022.

Work Planned for Quarter 4 2022-23

Work Planned for Throughout 2022-23

P
age 74



Audit & Governance Committee

Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct

Date:  30 September 2022 Agenda Item:  

Title of Report Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct 

Purpose of Report To feed back the results of the consultation on the Draft 
Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct and to seek 
the Committee’s support for its adoption by 
Gloucestershire County Council

Recommendations That the committee considers the issues raised in the 
consultation on the Draft Gloucestershire Code of 
Member’s Conduct and confirms its support for the 
revised Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ 
Conduct (as appended to this report). 

Officer Contact Rob Ayliffe
Monitoring Officer
Tel: 01452 328506
Email:  rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Key Risks The Councillor Code of Conduct is a key element of the 
Council’s Corporate Governance Framework.  The  
purpose of the Code is to ensure that Councillors 
understand their individual role in maintaining high 
standards of conduct, to ensure that such standards are 
maintained at all times, and to allow action to be taken 
when breaches of the Code occur.

In order to do this, the Code of Conduct needs to set out 
clearly the behaviour and standards that are expected of 
members of the Council.

Page 75

Agenda Item 10

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Introduction

1. The Council’s current Code of Conduct has been in place and remained 
unchanged since 2012, when it was introduced in response to the Localism 
Act 2011 which abolished the previous regime.  It has been reviewed on an 
annual basis by the Audit and Governance Committee, but until recently 
there has been no reason or appetite to change it.

2. However, a 2019 review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
(CSPL) drew attention to a wide disparity in the style and content of local 
Codes of Conduct and recommended that the LGA develop a Model Code 
of Conduct that Councils could choose to adopt and/or adapt to suit their 
circumstances.  The LGA accepted this recommendation, and completed 
work on a Model Code of Conduct in December 2020, which has since 
been modified to correct a number of minor anomalies.  The current version 
of the LGA Code is available on the LGA website at 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-
councillor-code-conduct-2020.

3. This led to a local discussion between County and District Monitoring 
Officers to test the appetite for all principal local authorities to adopt the 
code.  The conclusion of this discussion was that some of the district 
monitoring officers had reservations about the wording of the model code 
that would prevent them from wholeheartedly recommending it to their 
respective councils.  However, there was a strong appetite for developing a 
common Gloucestershire Code of Conduct, based on the content of the 
LGA Code but also keeping elements of existing codes of conduct.

4. That work was carried out, and a Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ 
Conduct was developed that has the support of the monitoring officers of 
the 7 principal council, as well as the Gloucestershire Association of Parish 
and Town Councils.  

5. In July, Audit & Governance Committee (as the committee with 
responsibility for reviewing and advising on the Code of Conduct) gave its 
approval to consult with members, political groups and the Council’s 
Independent Persons on the draft Code.   The draft Code is provided as an 
appendix to this report.

Benefits of a common Gloucestershire Code of Conduct

6. It is accepted that a degree of adaptation of the Code will be required by 
District, Town and Parish councils.  For example, those sections of the code 
that refer to executive responsibilities will not be relevant to those councils 
who do not operate executive arrangements.  However, other than that, it is 
intended that the provisions and standards set out in the code should apply 

Page 76

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020


equally to all District Councils.  It will, of course, be up to each District, 
Town and Parish to decide whether to adopt it.

7. The main benefits of having a common code of conduct are that:
 It will enable training resources to be shared across and between 

councils.
 For those who are members of more than one council, it will mean 

that a single set of standards apply
 It will provide greater clarity and consistency for members of the 

public about what behaviour they should expect from their 
representatives

 Where complaints are brought against a member at both county and 
district level (as sometimes is the case), the same considerations will 
apply, reducing duplication and allowing a single investigation of the 
complaint to be undertaken.

Consultation responses

8. The Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct was sent out to all 
county councillors and to the Council’s Independent Persons on Tuesday 
26 July.

9. The consultation elicited a limited number of responses.  Responses were 
received from the Council’s Labour and Green political groups and from one 
individual member.  In addition to this, the monitoring officer has discussed 
the draft Code informally with the leader of each political group.  The 
Independent Persons have also confirmed their support for the draft code.

10. The feedback was unanimously supportive of the ambition of agreeing a 
common Gloucestershire Code of Conduct across all tiers of local 
government.

11. The written responses also highlighted the need for the code to be 
accompanied by training, guidance and examples in order to support 
members’ understanding of its application. This is a helpful suggestion, and 
one which will be actioned following the adoption of a new Code.

12. There were also a small number of areas or issues where those responding 
argued that the Code should go further.  

13. Issue 1.  One response argued that the statement:

“This Code of Conduct does not seek to regulate what Members do in their 
purely private and personal lives.” 

Page 77



should be expanded to read:

“This Code of Conduct does not seek to regulate what Members do in their 
purely private and personal lives other than if that conduct in question is 

such that it would give a reasonable person the impression that a Member 
would be incapable of adhering to the principles and rules of conduct set 

out in this Code”

14. However, application of the code is limited by the relevant legislation – the 
Localism Act 2011 – section 27 of which states 

(1)  A relevant authority must promote and maintain high standards of conduct 
by members and co-opted members of the authority.

(2)  In discharging its duty under subsection (1), a relevant authority must, in 
particular, adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members 
and co-opted members of the authority when they are acting in that 
capacity.

15. To apply the code of conduct to members of the Council when they are not 
acting in that capacity would therefore go beyond the powers prescribed by 
the Act, and so any application of  the code to members’ behaviour in 
private would be extremely vulnerable to legal challenge.  It is therefore 
recommended that the original wording in the consultation draft is retained.

16. Issue 2:  One response argued that paragraph IV.6, which states:

Members shall base their conduct on a consideration of the public 
interest, avoid conflict between personal interest and the public interest 
and resolve any conflict between the two, at once, and in favour of the 
public interest.

is too simplistic.  It argued that, given how narrowly interests may be 
defined, it would be helpful to add a further paragraph such as: 

“Members shall avoid any situation that might give a reasonable person 
the impression that they may have acted, or failed to act, in a certain 
way, in exercising their duties as a Member, as a result of a personal 
interest.”

It went on to argue that wherever any conflict of interest, potential conflict 
of interest or reasonable concern that a conflict of interest may occur, the 
Member concerned should declare that interest, not participate in decision 
making and withdraw from the meeting concerned.

Page 78

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/27/enacted#section-27-1


17. Paragraph IV.6 of the draft code needs to be considered in the light of 
section V.10, which expands in some detail on the requirements for 
declaration of other interests, whether or not those interests are required to 
be registered.  That section offers the following definition:

“where a decision on the matter might reasonably be regarded 
as affecting, to a greater extent than it would affect the majority 
of other Council taxpayers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
division(s) affected by the decision, your well-being or financial 
position or the well-being or financial position of a member of 
your family, or any person with whom you have a close 
association, or who has a contractual relationship (including 
employment) with yourself, member of your family or close 
associate,”

This definition is one that has been established and tested through previous 
iterations of codes of conduct, and it is intended to have the same effect as 
the wording proposed in the feedback.  It is therefore recommended that 
the proposed wording is retained, given that it has stood the test of time, 
but that further clarification be provided within the training and guidance 
materials that are developed to support its implementation. 

18. Issue 3:  One further response suggested that it might be helpful to retain 
the list from the current code of conduct that sets out what application of the 
code will mean in practice (see appendix 2).  The respondent felt that the 
simplicity of the list provided a helpful summary and point of reference.

The intention is that section IV of the proposed code provides a similar 
summary, and covers the equivalent ground.  However, this section of the 
current code does have some significant gaps.  For example, it makes no 
reference to bullying or discriminatory behaviour, both of which are covered 
in the proposed revised code.   

Nevertheless, accepting the wider point about the usefulness of having a 
summary list, once agreed, the code could be formatted in such a way as to 
emphasise and draw attention to the equivalent summary in Section III.  
Similarly, training materials and guidance could be used to give it further 
prominence.

Next steps

19. Subject to the receiving the committee’s support, at its meeting on 10 
October, Constitution Committee will be asked to approve the Code for 
recommendation to County Council on 9 November.

Page 79



20. If adopted, training will be provided to all members on the content and 
operation of the Code, and will be built into the Council’s ongoing member 
development programme.   The operation of the Code will continue to be 
overseen and administered by the Monitoring Officer and reviewed annually 
by Audit and Governance Committee.

ENDS

Page 80



Appendix 1

Gloucestershire County Council

CODE OF MEMBERS’ CONDUCT

Adopted on [                                        ] taking effect on 
[                                     ]

Page 81



Contents

I Introduction

II Scope of the Code of Conduct

III General Principles of Members’ Conduct

IV Rules of Conduct

V Registration of Interests

VI Declaration of Interests and Restrictions on Participation

VII Duties in respect of the Code of Conduct 

VIII Dispensations

IX Gifts and Hospitality

X Definitions

Appendix A – Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Appendix B – Other Registrable Interests

Page 82



I. Introduction

1. This Code of Conduct (Code) is adopted pursuant to the Council’s duty to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members of the 
Council.

Members have a duty to uphold the law and to act on all occasions in 
accordance with the public trust placed in them.

II. Scope of the Code of Conduct

2. The Code applies to Members whenever acting in their official capacity as 
a Member of Gloucestershire County Council, including;

(a) when engaged in the business of Gloucestershire County Council 
including when acting as a local member or representing the Council 
externally;

(b) when behaving so as to give a reasonable person the impression of 
acting as a representative of Gloucestershire County Council.

This Code of Conduct does not seek to regulate what Members do in their 
purely private and personal lives.

3. The obligations set out in this Code are in addition to those which apply to 
all Members by virtue of the procedural and other rules of the Council and 
any Protocols and Policies which may be adopted from time to time by the 
Council.

Page 83



4. Failure to comply with the requirements within this Code of Conduct which 
relate to disclosable pecuniary interests and which are set out in sections 
V and VI and Appendix A is a criminal offence.1

III. General Principles of Members’ Conduct

5. In carrying out their duties in exercising the functions of their Authority or 
otherwise acting as a Councillor, Members will be expected to observe the 
general principles of conduct set out below.  These principles will be taken 
into consideration when any allegation is received of a breach of the 
provisions of the Code.

 Selflessness
 Integrity
 Objectivity
 Accountability
 Openness
 Honesty
 Leadership

IV. Rules of Conduct

6. Members shall base their conduct on a consideration of the public interest, 
avoid conflict between personal interest and the public interest and 
resolve any conflict between the two, at once, and in favour of the public 
interest.

7. Members shall observe the following rules:-

General Requirements

1 Section 34 Localism Act 2011

Page 84



(1) Do treat everyone with respect.
(2) Do not bully any person.
(3)   Do not harass any person
(4) Do promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against 

any person.
(5) Do not use your position improperly to confer on or secure for 

yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage, or seek 
to improperly influence a decision about any matter from which you 
are excluded from participating or voting as a result of the 
requirements of Part VI of this Code. 

(6) Do not do anything which compromises, or is likely to compromise, 
the impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council.

(7) Do not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably 
to be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless–
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;
(ii) you are required by law to do so;
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third party 
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or

(iv) the disclosure is –
(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and
(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the Council.
Before making any disclosure under (iv) above, the written 
advice of the Monitoring Officer must be sought and considered.

(8) Do not prevent another person from gaining access to information to 
which that person is entitled by law.

(9) Do promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in 
your public post by leadership and example.

Page 85



(10)   Do not behave in a manner which brings your role or the Council 
into disrepute.

(11) Do not use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role as a 
Member for the advancement of your own interests.

When using the resources of the Council, or authorising the use of those 
resources by others:

(12) Do act in accordance with the Council’s requirements including the 
requirements of the Council’s ICT Policies.

(13) Do ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 
(including party political purposes) unless that use could reasonably 
be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge 
of the functions of the Council or to the office to which you have 
been elected or appointed.

(14) Do have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity 
made under the Local Government Act 1986.

When making decisions on behalf of, or as part of, the Council:

(15) Do ensure that decisions are made on merit, particularly when 
making public appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending 
individuals for rewards or benefits.

(16) Do have regard to advice provided to you by the Council’s Officers, 
particularly that provided by the Chief Financial Officer and 
Monitoring Officer where such advice is offered pursuant to their 
statutory duties.

(17) Do be as open as possible about your own decisions and actions and 
those of the Council and be prepared to give reasons for those 
decisions and actions.

Page 86



(18) Do ensure that you are accountable for your decisions and co-
operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office.

V. Registration of Interests

8. Members shall observe the following rules when registering their interests.

(1) Do, within 28 days of taking office as a Member (or Co-opted 
Member), notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary 
interest as defined in Appendix A and any other registrable interest 
as defined in Appendix B.

(2) Do, within 28 days of the date of a disclosure referred to in 
Paragraph 9(2) of this Code, notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest.

(3) Do notify the Monitoring Officer of any new interest (disclosable 
pecuniary or other registrable interest) or change to any registered 
interest within 28 days of the date of that change.

(4) Do approach the Monitoring Officer if you feel that your interest 
should be treated as sensitive because its disclosure could lead to 
you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or 
intimidation.

VI. Declaration of Interests and Restrictions on Participation

Members must observe the following rules:-

9. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

Page 87



Where a matter, in which you have an interest as specified in Appendix A 
(disclosable pecuniary interests), arises at a meeting at which you are 
present, or where you become aware that you have such an interest in 
any matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting:-
(1) Do disclose the interest to the meeting.  If the Monitoring Officer 

considers it a sensitive interest, you must declare that you have an 
interest but do not need to disclose the nature of the interest.

(2) Do ensure that, if your interest is not entered in the Council’s 
Register, you disclose the interest to the meeting as required in 9(1) 
above and that you notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 
28 days in accordance with Paragraph 8(3) of this Code.

(3) Do withdraw from the meeting and do not vote on the matter, 
participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at 
the meeting unless a dispensation has been granted.

(4) Do not, as a member of the Council’s executive, exercise any 
executive functions in respect of any matter in which you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest (Appendix A).  You should notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the interest and take no steps or further steps 
in the matter.

10. Other Interests (Other Registrable Interests Appendix B and Non -
registrable Interests)

Where a matter, in which

either you have an interest as specified in Appendix B (other 
registrable interests),

Page 88



or where a decision on the matter might reasonably be regarded as 
affecting, to a greater extent than it would affect the majority of other 
Council taxpayers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the division(s) affected 
by the decision, your well-being or financial position or the well-being 
or financial position of a member of your family, or any person with 
whom you have a close association, or who has a contractual 
relationship (including employment) with yourself, member of your 
family or close associate,

arises at a meeting at which you are present, or where you become aware 
that you have such an interest in any matter to be considered or being 
considered at the meeting:-

(1) Do ensure that you disclose the interest to the meeting.  If the     
Monitoring Officer considers it a sensitive interest, you must declare 
that you have an interest but do not need to disclose the nature of 
the interest.

(2) Do leave the meeting and do not vote on the matter, participate, or 
participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 
(unless a dispensation has been granted or it is an excepted 
function), if,

(a) it affects the financial position of an interest specified in 
Appendix B (other registrable interests) 

(b)    it affects your financial position or well-being or that of a 
member of your family, or any person with whom you have a 
close association, or who has a contractual relationship 
(including employment) with yourself, member of your family or 
close associate

or

Page 89



(c) it relates to the determination of any approval, consent, licence, 
permission or registration in relation to you or any person or 
body described in (a) and (b) above 

and a reasonable member of the public knowing the facts would 
reasonably regard it as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your 
judgement of the public interest.

The rules set out in Paragraph 10(4) above do not have the effect of 
precluding a Member from attending a meeting only for the purpose 
of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence 
relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to 
attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory 
right or otherwise.  The Member must, after making their submission, 
withdraw immediately from the meeting.

(3) Do not, as a member of the Council’s executive, exercise any 
executive functions in respect of any matter in which you have an 
interest as described in 10(4) above.  You should notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the interest and take no steps or further steps 
in the matter.

VII. Duties in respect of the Code of Conduct

11. Members shall observe the following:-

(1) Do undertake training on the Code of Conduct as required by the 
Council.

(2) Do co-operate, at all stages, with any investigation into your conduct 
which may be carried out in accordance with the arrangements for 

Page 90



the investigation and determination of complaints which have been 
put in place by the Council.

(3) Do not seek to intimidate, or attempt to intimidate, any person who 
is, or is likely to be, a complainant, a witness or involved in the 
administration of any investigation or proceedings in relation to an 
allegation that a Member has failed to comply with his or her 
Council’s Code of Conduct.

(4) Do comply with any sanction imposed on you following a finding that 
you have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct.

VIII. Dispensations

12. Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest as described in this 
Code, and set out in Appendix A, or has an interest which would preclude 
the Member’s participation in the item of business as described in 
Paragraph 10 of this Code, the Member may apply to the Monitoring 
Officer for a dispensation.

13. A Member may be granted a dispensation to participate in a discussion 
and vote on a matter at a meeting even if the Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest as described in this Code, and set out in Appendix A, or 
has an other registrable interest (Appendix B) or non-registrable interest 
which would preclude the Member’s participation in the item of business 
as described in Paragraph 10 of this Code.

IX. Gifts and Hospitality 

14. When offered gifts or hospitality in your capacity as a Member of the 
Council, the following rules must be observed.

Page 91



(1) Do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 
which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or to a 
reasonable suspicion of influence to show favour from persons 
seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the Council or from 
persons who may apply to the Council for any permission, licence or 
other significant advantage.

(2) Do register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt. 
(Appendix B).

(3) Do register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or 
hospitality that you have been offered but have refused to accept.

X. Definitions

The following are definitions which apply for the purposes of this Code of Conduct.

1. Bullying is offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse 
or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate, or 
injure the recipient.

2. “Close associate” means someone with whom you are in close regular contact 
over a period of time who is more than an acquaintance.  It may be a friend, 
a colleague, a business associate or someone you know through general 
social contacts.  It is someone a reasonable member of the public would think 
you might be prepared to favour/disadvantage (“close association” shall be 
construed accordingly). 

3. “Harassment” is conduct, on at least two occasions, that causes alarm or 
distress or puts people in fear of violence

Page 92



4. “Meeting” is a meeting of the Council, or any Committee, Sub-Committee,
Joint Committee or Joint Sub-Committee of the Council.

5. “Member” is an elected Member or a Co-opted Member of the Council.  
“Co-opted Member” is a person who is not a Member of the Council but who 
is either a Member of any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council, or a 
Member of, and represents the Council on, any Joint Committee or Joint Sub-
Committee of the Council, and who is entitled to vote on any question that 
falls to be decided at any meeting of that Committee or Sub-Committee.

6. “Member of your family” means:

 Partner (spouse/civil partner/someone you live with as if a spouse or 
civil partner);

 A parent/parent-in-law, son/daughter, step-son/step-daughter, child of 
partner; or the partners of any of these persons;

 A brother/sister, grandparent/grandchild, uncle/aunt, nephew/niece; or 
the partners of any of these persons.

7. “Monitoring Officer” is the Monitoring Officer to Gloucestershire County 
Council.

8. “Pending notification” is an interest which has been notified to the Monitoring 
Officer but which has not been entered in the Council’s Register in 
consequence of that notification.

9. Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the 
written word.

11. “The Act” is the Localism Act 2011.

12.  “The Council” is Gloucestershire County Council.

Page 93



13. “Unlawful discrimination” is where someone is treated unfairly because of a 
protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a 
person's identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation

14. “Well-being” means general sense of contentment and quality of life.

15. “Excepted functions” are functions of the Council in respect of

(i) housing, where the Member is a tenant of the Council provided that 
those functions do not relate particularly to the Member’s tenancy or 
lease;

(ii) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members;

(iii) any ceremonial honour given to Members; and

(iv) setting Council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992.

Page 94



Appendix A

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

The interests set out below are “Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” in accordance with 
the Localism Act 2011 and Members must notify the Monitoring Officer in 
accordance with Paragraphs 8(1)-(3) of this Code of Conduct of any interest which is 
an interest of the Member (M) or of any of the following:

 the Member’s spouse or civil partner;

 a person with whom the Member is living as husband and wife; or

 a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners;

and the Member is aware that that other person has the interest.

Subject      Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

Employment, Office, Trade, Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
Profession or Vocation vocation carried out for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 
made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by M in 
carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
the election expenses of M.  
This includes any payment or financial benefit 
from a Trade Union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992(a).

Contracts Any contract which is made between the 
relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority –
(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of the relevant authority.

Page 95



Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge) –
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body 
where –
(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant 
authority; and
(b) either –

(i) the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that class.

(a) “the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;

(b) “body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in 
which the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the 
relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest;

(c) “director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial 
and provident society;

(d) “land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which 
does not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with 
another) to occupy the land or to receive income;

(e) “M” means a member of a relevant authority;

(f) “member” includes a co-opted member;

(g) “relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member;

Page 96



(h) “relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which 
M gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the 
case may be, of the Act;

(i) “relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) 
of the Act;

(j) “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, 
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000(b) and other securities of any description, other 
than money deposited with a building society.

Page 97



Appendix B

Other Registrable Interests

The interests set out below are “other registrable interests” which must be notified 
to the Monitoring Officer in accordance with Paragraphs 8(1), 8(2) and 8(4) of this 
Code of Conduct.

A Member must notify the Monitoring Officer of any interest held by the Member in 
any of the categories set out below:-

Subject     Other Interest

Management or Control Any body of which the Member is in a 
position of general control or 
management (including where you have 
been appointed or nominated by the 
Council.)

Public/Charitable and Other Any body –
External Bodies (a) exercising functions of a public 

nature;
(b) directed to charitable purposes; or
(c) one of whose principal purposes 
includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or 
Trade Union).

of which the Member of the Council is a 
member or in a position of general 
control or management.

Employer Any person or body who employs, or has 
appointed, the Member.

Gifts and Hospitality The name of any person, organisation, 
company or other body from whom the 
Member has received, by virtue of his 
Office, gifts or hospitality worth an 
estimated value of £25 or more.

Page 98



Appendix 2: Extract from existing GCC Councillor Code of Conduct

In practice this will mean: 

1. Promoting and supporting high standards of conduct by embodying the principles 

of public life and leading by example. 

2. Acting solely in the public interest by never using your position to give any 

advantage, or cause disadvantage to a person; or gain any financial or other material 

benefits for yourself, your family, friends or associates. 

3. Not compromising yourself and the County Council by taking care to avoid 

financial or other obligations that individuals or organisations might use to try and 

influence how you perform your official duties. 

4. Making decisions based on merit when considering public appointments, awarding 

contracts or putting individuals forwards for rewards and benefits. 

5. Fully co-operating with the County Council’s scrutiny functions to be publicly 

accountable for your actions and protect the reputation of the Council as a whole. 

6. Giving reasons for the decisions and actions you and the County Council take in 

an open and honest way. 

7. Making sure that County Council resources are used appropriately by not using 

them for political purposes yourself, or allowing people you have authorised to use 

equipment to do so. This will mean having regard for the County Council’s various 

acceptable usage policies and any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made 

under the Local Government Act 1986. 

8. Taking all necessary steps to resolve personal conflicts of interest by declaring 

and registering your pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests using methods the 

County Council has provided, as well as removing yourself from positions of 

influence when an interest is apparent.

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



       

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE 
CHAIR OF THE AUDIT AND 

GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE – 2021-22 

SEPTEMBER 2022
Page 101

Agenda Item 12



Page 1

CONTENTS

Section       Page

Foreword 2

1 Background 4

2 Committee Role and Responsibilities 5

3 Audit Committee Membership 5

4 2021-22 Committee Achievements 5

- Internal Audit 6
- External Audit 6
- Risk Management 7
- Regulatory and Governance 7
- Treasury Management 7
- Annual Statement of Accounts and the AGS 8

5 Work Programme 8

6 Training 8

7 Conclusions 9

Page 102



Page 2

Foreword

As Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee (the Committee), I am pleased to present 
this report on our contribution to the Council’s oversight of risk and governance for 2021-22.

Effective management and governance are important to ensure that the Council successfully 
delivers crucial services to our community, improves performance and reduces the risk of not 
achieving our objectives. 

The Committee is a core component of effective governance. Our role is to independently 
oversee and assess the internal control, governance and risk management environment and 
to constructively advise the Council on the adequacy and effectiveness of these 
arrangements.

As Chair, I also consider training a key priority for Members in order for us to undertake our 
roles effectively. 

Our work programme is structured around the Committee’s main areas of responsibility. It is 
reviewed and agreed at each meeting to enable key tasks to be considered and delivered. 

Through our work programme, we have provided independent assurance on the adequacy of 
the governance, risk management and control environment. This includes assurance on the 
Council’s performance where this affects exposure to risk and weakens the control 
environment. We have also overseen the statutory financial reporting process. 

The External Auditor gave an unqualified opinion on the 2020-21 annual accounts. They 
stated that the Council had proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. The work of the Committee has contributed to this 
conclusion.

This report informs Council of the Committee’s work in 2021-22 and to note our opinion on 
the standard of governance, risk management and the audit arrangements in place.

The Committee has made a positive contribution to the Council’s overall governance, control 
and risk arrangements and has been successful in fulfilling its terms of reference. I am 
satisfied that the Council has maintained an adequate and effective internal control 
framework through the period covered by this report.

The Committee has considered regular reports on treasury management, risk management, 
procurement, fraud, Internal Audit Progress, the Annual Statement of Accounts and Annual 
Governance Statement.

Finally, I would like to convey my thanks to all the members of the Committee and to the 
officers for all the work done during the past year. While the work was performed under 
somewhat challenging circumstances the results have justified the effort.

Councillor Colin Hay 

Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee

Page 103



Page 3

1. Background

1.1 Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted lawfully and to proper standards. This includes ensuring that 
public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently 
and effectively. In discharging this responsibility, the Council must ensure that it has 
proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs in place.

1.2 A sound corporate governance framework requires accountability to service users, 
stakeholders and the wider community. Within this, the Council takes decisions, leads 
and controls its functions to achieve stated objectives and priorities. It thereby provides 
an opportunity to demonstrate the positive elements of the Council’s business and 
promote public confidence. Audit Committees are widely recognised as a core 
component of effective governance. 

1.3 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) confirm that “Audit 
Committees are a vital part of any organisation”. The Council’s Audit and Governance 
Committee (the Committee) is responsible for overseeing corporate governance, audit 
and risk management arrangements. The Committee is also responsible for approving 
the Statement of Accounts and the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The 
Committee’s specific powers and duties are set out in the Council’s Constitution. 

1.4 The key benefits of the Committee are: 

i. Maintaining public confidence in the objectivity and fairness of financial and other 
reporting. This includes providing a focus on financial reporting throughout the year, 
leading to confidence in the objectivity and fairness of the governance 
arrangements operating within the Council;

ii. Reinforcing the importance and independence of Internal and External Audit and 
any other similar review process; 

iii. Considering assurance from various sources and holding management to account; 

iv. Providing assurance through a process of independent and objective review, via the 
Internal Audit service provided by Audit Risk Assurance (ARA); 

v. Raising the Council’s awareness of the need for governance, ethical behaviour, 
internal control and the implementation of audit recommendations; and

vi. Providing assurance on the adequacy of the Council’s risk management 
arrangements, including the risk of fraud and irregularity.

1.5 The Committee is established in accordance with CIPFA’s “Audit Committees – 
Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police – 2018”. It has a direct reporting line 
to full Council, and the Chair also has direct access to the Chief Executive and the 
Leader, if required.

1.6 Despite the challenges faced by the Council in 2021-22, the Committee maintained a 
detailed work programme for its main areas of activity which it considered and updated 
at each meeting.

Page 104



Page 4

1.7 The Committee met five times during the year and each meeting had a full and wide-
ranging agenda, reflecting its broad role.

2. Committee Role and Responsibilities

2.1 The core functions of the Committee are incorporated in its terms of reference. They are 
presented under the main areas of activity, which are to oversee:

i. Audit activity (Internal, External and any Inspections);

ii. Regulatory framework; and

iii. The Statutory Accounts and AGS.
   
2.2 The Committee raises awareness of the need for sound internal control and risk 

management arrangements. The Committee provides assurance to the Council and 
stakeholders about these important aspects of governance. 

3. Audit Committee Membership

3.1 The Committee’s membership of 12 elected Councillors for 2021-22 was:

i. Councillor Colin Hay (Chair)
ii. Councillor Stephan Fifield (Vice-Chair)
iii. Councillor Matt Babbage 
iv. Councillor  John Bloxsom
v. Councillor Alex Hegenbarth 
vi. Councillor Stephen Hirst  
vii. Councillor Alan Preest 
viii. Councillor Brian Tipper
ix. Councillor Chloe Turner
x. Councillor Susan Williams
xi. Councillor Dr David Willingham; and
xii. Independent Person – David Clowes

3.2 The Council’s officers and External Auditors (Grant Thornton) support the Committee. 
Key officer engagement is principally via the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources (S151 Officer), the Monitoring Officer and the Head of ARA.

4. 2021-22 Committee Achievements

4.1 The Council entered the new financial year still being in the midst of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Council continued to follow government guidance, which included asking 
the majority of staff to work from home.

4.2 The Committee continued throughout the pandemic to oversee the Council’s work on 
risk management, treasury management and counter fraud. The Committee held in-
person meetings from July 2021 onwards.

Page 105



Page 5

4.3 The outcomes of the Committee’s work in relation to its core functions are summarised 
below.

4.4 Internal Audit – the Council’s Internal Audit is provided by ARA. The Committee 
reviewed and considered:

i. The Internal Audit Annual Plan for 2021-22. The Committee contributed towards the 
formulation of the Internal Audit Plan. The plan helps Internal Audit to target 
resources to those areas considered to be the highest risks, or which contribute 
most to the achievement of the Council’s corporate objectives;

ii. The Head of ARA’s Annual Report and opinion for 2020-21. This provided an 
Acceptable opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control 
environment and summarised the activity upon which this was based. The 
Committee can therefore take reasonable assurance that there is a sound system of 
internal control in place at the Council;

iii. Internal Audit reports – this included receiving responses from officers and 
Members;

iv. Reports on Internal Audit’s progress against the Annual Audit Plan through regular 
update reports presented by the Head of ARA;

v. Information on the ARA Improvement Journey, including updates on working and 
reporting arrangements. This positively builds on the successful outcomes from the 
2020-21 External Quality Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit;

vi. Management progress to address control weaknesses identified in Internal Audit 
reports where a limited opinion on the control environment has been provided; 

vii. Considered the outcomes of special investigations undertaken by the Internal Audit 
Counter Fraud team. This included progress made in the investigation of queries 
arising as a result of the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) data matching exercise; and

viii. Received updates on the work around the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
and counter fraud activities. The GFRS Progress Report has been concluded and 
all recommendations were confirmed as implemented. 

4.5 External Audit – the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 confirms that a Council 
must appoint an External Auditor to audit the Council’s annual Statement of Accounts 
and value for money arrangements. Under the Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA), Grant Thornton were the appointed External Auditor for the Council for the 
period 2018-19 to 2022-23.

4.6 The Committee (or the Chair via delegated responsibility) have monitored the work of 
the External Auditor and have:

i. Considered and accepted the Annual Audit Letter for 2020-21. This summarises the 
outcomes from External Audit work during this period;

ii. Received and considered the External Auditor’s report on an objection to the 
Statutory Accounts regarding the waste contract;

Page 106



Page 6

iii. Received and considered regular External Audit progress reports; 

iv. Considered and approved the Council’s draft Statement of Accounts for 2020-21, 
with regular updates on the position received from External Audit. The S151 Officer 
and the Chair signed a letter of representation on behalf of the Committee and 
Council to Grant Thornton, to enable the ‘unqualified’ opinion to be issued;

v. Considered and accepted the Audit Results Report;

vi. Considered and approved the Letter of Representation; and

vii. Considered and accepted the External Auditor’s Plan for 2021-22, which sets out 
work to be undertaken on the accounting statements and to provide a value for 
money opinion.

4.7 The term of the current External Auditor ends on 31st March 2023. Following 
consideration, the Committee recommended that the Council opt-in to the PSAA for 
the appointment of the Council’s External Auditors from 2023-24. Council approved 
the above recommendation. 

4.8 Risk Management – the Committee considered risk and opportunity management 
implications within Internal Audit reports. 

4.9 Risk management is a key component of effective governance. The Committee and 
senior management supported an independent review of the Council’s risk management 
arrangements.

4.10 The suggested actions from the independent review have been embedded in a wider 
programme of improvement formulated by the Planning, Performance and Insight 
service. This will ensure that risk management continues to be embedded within the 
Council’s key business processes.

4.11 The Committee considered and approved the new Risk Management Policy and 
Strategy 2022-2025 and associated framework.

4.12 The Committee also received regular risk management update reports (including the 
review of the strategic risk register) and being presented with the actions taken by the 
council to identify and address corporate risks. The Committee recognised that the 
corporate risk register required further review and enhancement, which is currently 
being addressed.

4.13 Regulatory and Governance – the Committee received: 

i. The Whistleblowing Annual Report;

ii. The Member Code of Conduct Annual Report;

iii. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter and 
the RIPA Policy;

Page 107



Page 7

iv. The Committee also reviewed the Council’s Local Code of Governance (the Code) 
and the AGS. The Code will be kept under review and be subject to Internal Audit 
inspection to verify supporting evidence; and

v. The Committee reviewed the progress made by management to address the 
required actions identified in the 2020-21 AGS Improvement Plan; 

4.14 CIPFA are due to issue refreshed Audit Committee guidance in 2022-23. The 
Committee will ensure robust self-assessment against the new guidance and identify 
improvement actions as required.

4.15 In addition, the Committee continued to monitor the Local Government Ombudsman 
Annual Report, Freedom of Information Report and considered the actions required to 
further improve the Council’s performance.     

4.16 Treasury Management – is a key area for the Committee to monitor and they 
continue to consider and recommend to full Council for approval amendments to the 
investment strategy in response to changing market conditions. During the year, the 
Committee has: 

i. Received and approved the Annual Treasury Management report which looked at 
the final 2020-21 outturn position;

ii. Received and approved the Treasury Management mid-year activity reports which 
monitors treasury activity against the 2020-2021 strategy; and

iii. Also considered and recommended to full council the Capital, Treasury and 
investment Strategy for 2022-2023, including the Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy. This report also set the council’s prudential indicators for 2022/23. 

4.17 Annual Statement of Accounts and the AGS – the Committee:

i. Scrutinised the draft annual Statement of Accounts for 2020-21;

ii. Ensured appropriate accounting policies had been followed and considered whether 
there were any concerns that needed the attention of Council. Following scrutiny, 
the Committee approved the annual Statement of Accounts; and

iii. Considered and approved the AGS for 2020-21.

5. Work Programme

5.1 The Audit Committee can report that the majority of governance functions and 
processes are well-controlled and delivered.

5.2 Where Internal Audit reports revealed risks of concern, the Committee have asked 
questions to management to explain their plans to rectify any areas of weakness.

5.3 Recent reports to the Committee have indicated that further work is needed on some 
areas around counter fraud and risk management arrangements.

Page 108



Page 8

6. Training

6.1 A breadth of mandatory training sessions and wider training opportunities have been 
offered to all Council Members in 2021-22 including:

i. Annual Governance Statement, Local Code of Corporate Governance and Annual 
Statement of Accounts;

ii. Treasury Management; and

iii. The Role of Internal Audit.

7. Conclusions

7.1 The Committee has been successful in maintaining oversight of the Council’s 
governance, risk management and internal control framework throughout 2021-22 and 
providing constructive challenge.

7.2 The Committee’s work programme is dynamic. The programme is regularly reviewed to 
ensure the Committee maximises its contribution to the governance and control 
framework, while ensuring that the agenda for meetings are focused on key issues.

7.3 The Committee is committed to ensuring high governance standards are maintained.

7.4 During 2022-23, the Committee will continue to be an important source of assurance 
over the Council’s risk management and control environments, and the financial and 
performance reporting arrangements. 

7.5 In particular, the Committee will continue to:

i. Support the work of Internal and External Audit and ensure appropriate responses 
are given to their recommendations;

ii. Monitor actions arising from the AGS Action Plan for 2021-22, to ensure the 
Council’s governance arrangements are effective; and

iii. Monitor actions arising from the Risk Management Annual Report 2021-22 Action 
Plan and support their implementation.

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	6 External Audit for GCC & Pension Fund Update Report
	7 Treasury Management Update report
	8 Internal Audit Progress Reports
	Audit Committee Summary v2.0
	GCC Committee Report v2.0

	10 Draft Code of Conduct Review
	12 The Annual Report of the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee

